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Chapter 1
Distant Early Warning

The needle travelled across the graph paper serenely in a perfectly straight, perfectljunblemished line. Not
atwitch, not a flicker of motion. Hour after hour.
Until...
A tiny, tiny irregularity appeared. If anyone had been watching it, the needle would hardly have seemed to
move. Almost immediately the black line it was tracing resumed its ruler -like perfection. But then there was
another little jump. Then a slight swing from one side to the other.
An amber light began to flash.
Seven Two Two Ghyron caught the moving colour in the corner of his eye, and looked up alertly. Then he
leapt up from his desk and strode over to the row of seismographs that lined the wall of his laboratory, staring at
the graph paper on the fourth one from the left.
The needle was beginning to oscillate quite noticeably now, with only brief pauses between movements.
AiNot another one!d Ghyron muttered under his breath, hi s
concerned frown furrowing bet weamohis eyebrows. AWhat 6s goi
Suddenly the needle went wild, audibly emitting a scratching sound as it swung swiftly from side to side in
huge sweeps. The amber light ceased and the red light above it took over, flding even more urgently.
Watching the manic needle and the flurry of black lines, Ghyron gripped the sides of the machine asthough
by doing so he could make it stop, make it steady. As if, he told himself, derisively. But there was nothing else he
could do, while he waited for the tremor to finish registering.
It was at least another two minutes before the frenzied oscillations died away and the needle resumed an
undisturbed progress across the graph.
Ghyron released his grip on the seismograph and swung away, almost immediately pivoting on his heels to
look back at the machine, the fingers of both hands tugging through the mass of light brown curls that crowned
his headin a gesture of frustration.
AWhy are you doing t hica yod beldeing d?eWhgd dietd . g e fitHiolwg wor se ever )
Listen to yourself. Shouting protests at an inanimate machine , he thought. Trying to deny your suspicions.
Becauseyouknownobody é6d believe you if you told utheinf wihtyd sy otur wehi n
He looked miserably at the seismographs.
There was no way round i tNomatterddwdncrédidble iesounded.t el | someone.
Becausef i to6s true, wedre all/l headed for a terrible disaste

A few days later,PlanetaryAd mi ni strator One Four Three Zarramin sl|lowly
reading onto his desk and stared at it, his mind racing to
They were profound. Literally life -changing. For Felindre, this unique planet of which he was the appointed
administrator . And, in a very different way, for himself.
Carefully, meticulously, he thought each one through to its logical conclusion, and drew all the strands
together into a single decision. He sat contemplating that decision for a long time.
Then, slowly, he stretched out his hand and pressed the control of the internal communications network that
would summon the member of his staff that he needed to speak to.

iSeven Two Two Ghyron, 0 came the response

AAh, Ghyroné Administrator Zarramin here. | 6ve just fini
over some of its content. Could you come to my office, pl

iOf cour se, Admi ni strator . 1 61 I be right thereéo



In his laboratory, Ghyron cl osed his communicator off and sat back in his chair, running both hands through
his hair with his characteristic gesture.
His colleague, Nine Three One Cyraenie, noticedt, and the anxious frown on his face.

AWhat 6s the matter?06 she asked.
fiZarr aamtns wtw o talk to me about a report | 6ve sent in, 0 he
A Why ? I mean, why are you looking so worried about it?0o

brushing a lock of her shoulder-length fair hair out of them in order to do so.

iBceause there are things in it he isndét going to I|like, o s
arendt going to |ike. I'f 1 ém right. I knew that when | s/
AWhy, whatés it about? Does Laryan know about it?0o

ANot yet. t&albkm gobinhgroogh with him as soon as hie gets bad

hepausedi il t hink | 6doubet Net postteet. Not until |l 6ve cl eared
She raised her eyebrows.
iSounds serious, o0 she said lightly.
ilt could be,d he agreed. He suddenlydooked at hert rétmer streingelly,shed he r ep.
thought.
Aln fact, Cy, I think | want i gpartfrom loarygnri ¢hatil s eneynd 4 owemdo ti tt &I
he said, and it was evident he was in earnest.
AAll right, o0 she said, her puzzlement evident in her ton
i Pr o mReally promiseld h e i, appdrestly endware how childlike his phrasing sounded. But there
was no mistaking his intensity . -GMNe ! Not wuntil I tell you itdéds safe. o
fiSafe? What do youi 0 She broke off at the | ook on his face. Al I

He accepted her words with a nod, then looked away andstared with unfocused eyes into the middle distance
for a few moment s. Cyraenie |l ooked at him with real concel
anything . He was dedicated and serious as scientist, but as a person his manner was usually lighthearted and
cheerful. His expression and tone at this moment were completely out of character. For no good reason, she
found herself wishing that Professor Laryan had been here, now, and not makinga field trip to Observatory
Fouré
She saw Ghyronés fingers close almost absently around thi
It was a carved figurine of a soobiti a small arboreal mammal that was one of the vast range of Felindrean fawna,
and painted with a characteristic pattern of brownish -grey and cream stripes.He 6 d made it hi msel f; he
talented amateur artist. Cyraenie had seen the whole collection of his artwork, the figures of birds, insects and
animals he kept in his quarters, or sometimes gave to colleagues as gifts. Yet she still found this one little animal
a rather endearing thing for him to keep always by him, on his desk

Suddenly he turned his customary bright smile on her, and got up, shoving the soobit into his pocket.

i Oh, wel |, |l 6d better answer the summons, o he said. A Wi
Al | right, but reedd,ogealyto sutpgp osaei d/,out urning back to her ow
He paused as he got to the door, and gave herrother strange look.
AActudal dp, 6 he contradicted. AWe all do. o And went out
brow.
*
A couple of minutes | ater, the communicator on Zarramino:

AAdmi ni ®t catmer t he pr i m, oueFvd Nine Hadenaly, thoinse sp eorfs d=n a | assistant
Two Two Ghyronis heretoseeyouuHe says you asked him to comed®SheHe doesnodt

sounded faintly indignant, as if Zarramin had no right to make any kind of arrangement in which she was not



involved. He si ghed, silently. Someti mes he found Helenayds unf
extreme usefulness to him.
i T h a n kHelgmayu Yes, | did ask him to come to see méd sorry | forgot to mention it, e apologized
smoot IChnyoue nid hi m i PAh thetegamareld@hank you for comingheso prompt]|
said pleasantly as the door opened to admit the young scientist He waved him to a seat on the other side of his
desk. i 1y cavpirobably goaatlot on your mind. Particularly in the light of vy
Ghyron nodded, glumly.
fiYoudr e s ur accumabywmiwyour findings? Quite sure?o The Pl anetary Admi
papers on the desk in front of him with a delicately extended middle finger.
Ghyron nodded again.
AAs sure as | can be,d he said, grimly.
Zarramin regarded the young scientist thoughtfully.
fiBut you&e consulted your colleagues about this, of course? Forgivemei obvi ously, 1 8&dm a bureauc
s c i e i the seniled thinly 7 A bt even as a layman, it strikes me that itis a rather i well, unusual theory that
youbre proposing here. o
fiVery tactful, Administrator. You meanbizarre, d o n 6 gaid @hyron?with a brief, wry smile. But,fno,
Ilhavendét t ol d otyety thaught yeulosghtto know first. As soon as possible But 1 6m going toc
it past Professor Laryan, too. If he confirms my findings i we | | é 0 He shrugged, as i f to ini
further basis for doubt.
fiBut at the moment no-one else knows about this,other than wetwo? 6 Zar r ami.n per si sted
The younger man cast a quickand rather wary glance at him.
ANot yet, o0 he repeated.
AVery wise, 0 Za rirtleciicumstanpep suchveticence is éktremely laudable. Yod ve s hown
sound judgement in this matter, Ghyron. It would have been irresponsible in the extreme to publish this
generally without first undergoing at least some form of peer review. Of course, if, as you expect, Professor
Laryan agrees with your findings i well, he is one of the most respected scientists in theOmaronHe g e moin y é
He fixed the young scientist with an unwavering gaze andadded, with just the slightest trace of emphasis, | kiiow
|l can trust you to maintain that state of affairs for the |
Ghyron nodded, but there was a hint of uneasiness in his manner. Zarraminnotedit, and wondered i f h
somehow givenGhyron a clue to what lay behind hiswords. He continued to regard the younc
noticed nothing.

AButamrfi glht , the situationél |l be terribly wurgent, Admini s
consider measures al most i mmedi atel vy, wonot we ? 0

iYes, youdr e rWherdisProfessor Lacroyuams eat t he moment 20 Zarramin enqg

fiObservatory Four. He 6 s indhtee days.alavlisgoing to talk it over with himthen, but ti meds so
terribly short, Il m beggemniing touwlndierhifiim angwayto Ther e

findeed thereis, 0 Zar r amiAn dagorfe ecdo.ur sfie you must get in touch with

be present when you do soi obviously, as Planetary Administrator, | have a great deal hvested in the outcome of
the discussion So could you wait unti/l I come to you? Say, this
potential courses of action?0
He paused, thought fAndinthe meantinenGhygrannd ensure teedsecurity of this
information, | 6 d | itoka&e sgnte time out of the laboratory. Stay in your quarters. Not that | mean to imply
that youd deliberately let anything fall in conversation, but it can be so easily done without intent. With a matter
of such i mportance, I think it would be wise to make absol i
agree?o

Ghyron cast him another quick glance. Zarramin found it hard to deduce what he was thinking.



AAnd then, when hisbeehiefansed,dhed @ mn ty ia youeah be siire there will have been
not the slightest chance of anyone else sufferingi shall we say undue concern? about this matter. Until we e
completely surethatt hat concern is justified. o

Ghyron nodded, and in obedience to his implied dismissal, rose to leave. But he still looked uneasy. When
he got to the door, he looked back at Zarramin, as if he was studying him for some reason, or was about to say
something further.

Zarramin looked back at him, with slightly raised eyebrows.

iWas there something else?d0 he enquired.

Ghyron locked eyes with him, briefly.

ANo, sir ThRenheteftsai d.

Zarramin regarded the shut door steadily for some moments. Then he leaned forward to his communicator
again. Usinghis confidential circuit. Theoneeven Hel enay coul dndt access. The one
Administrator, could use.

The one he used when he wantd to maintain absolute secrecy.

Chapter 2
Intriguing Discoveries

In the TARDIS, an issue of immenseand universal importance was being debated.

AWho do you think | édm mo st titedi bkaec,k tohne nt?hoe tphiel olxobdcst ocrh aai srk ewdi.
propped on the console. Finn Thornton was leaning back against it, facing him, her arms folded.

iWeel , 0 she said consideringly, fAyoubve certainly got Moc
characters in the Moomin books Snufkinés always been my f a
a crisis.o

fiThat 6s ,wertyh emgeedct or a

AAl so, 0 Finn went on, fAsomething of a nomasdellaButdi a r ebel a
she wrinkled hernosei iy oub6r e too extrovert to really be Snufkin. You
and Little My. Interested i n aefidtelyytcdi.ng, and up for anyt hi

Aoi ! The Hemulen wears a dress! Andt dd.m toDt itlall.l. .fdor Hd
asi deways dip of his head that implied he was allowing the
then?d he challenged. AWho would you be?0

Finn gave the matter grave consideration.
AiProbably the D&®ehkgego &hdeprdheunced at | ast.
i Hmm. furry,Ancomprehensible,i r r i t abl e | oner with bushyrealyebr ows and :
recognize you from that description, o the Doctor demurred.
iMaybe not, 0 dheeriully, vatlo ansbregd @ fdough | bet you find what | say incomprehensible at
ti messé!She gr i nBwetd labtv ehiamh.wayfis had a soft spot for him as a
Sinkd, 0 s,we trhep &ikhiasndhnderfif ul idea, isnd6t it?0
They were interrupted by the sound of the TARDIS preparing to land. The Doctor whipped his feet back onto
the floor and leapt up.
AfWebre there! o he announced, unnecessarily. fiCome on!
A Why ? Where are we?0 Fi nn asddawthe vortex df @passingggustofwnd.l i ke a |
AiSomewhere | h e ar d Fiaadbstop ¢n the tour. Theopieae deardgistance! Definitely worth a
visit, by the sound of it,o the Doctor infogagam her . He o]
sweeping gesture with his free hand to indicate that she should precede him. Wearing an expression of

anticipation, she stepped outside.



Her jaw dropped in amazement; she just stood and stared. The Doctor came and stood beside her, his hands
thrust into his pockets, and did much the same.

il dondét think | 6ve ever seen anything so beautiful, o Fi.

Anwel |, I 6 v e plecesinrmy Bimefbat,il havefteesay, this one is definitely a contender for top of the
i st, o agreed t heleftkearlobe asrhe supeyddthée view. at hi s

fi Wh eistehi s ? 0

AThe planet of Felindre. I n the Omaron Tegwith gal axy.
Felindre, I mean, hianthe dutereedgg, ad itaowkythem a whiledGosget round to noticing it.
Now theydéve found it, itdbs been designated a CBOB. o

iA beb? What 6s that?0

AACTBT Oi B0 the Doctor explained, spelling ou€Celtdetila®ltters
Body of Outstanding Beauty. o0

i Oh. Well, | can Blketwbhyglt FAmat @aignhe placaid Ghebeoketoff, f ul , but
shaking her head in wonder.

After the particularly unpleasant experiences she and the Doctorhadree nt | y undergone in what
dubbed the é6Mind Machinedé, resulting in their grim duel wi/f
had decided they both needed an antidote to those events, and had been taking her on a tour of some of the most
beauti ful places he knew. This one was evidently new to hi
real jackpot this time. She went back to staring at the vista around her.

The TARDIS had landed on a long, low ridge; immediately behind them the seg before them a bowlshaped
valley enclosed by a circle of hills. More hills, line after line of them, marched into the distance, growing in size
and stature until they became snow-capped mountains on the horizon.

At the far lip of the valley a waterfall fell like a curtain of white lace into a modestly-sized lake before the
water flowed as a small river across the bowl and out through a gap in the ridge on their left to meet the sea. The
vall eyds main form of sseavheeetsahe hills and meuetaims weretfooestdd @n egerya
available surface. Exotic flowers rioted everywhere.

What made the scene even more beautiful to her eyes than an equivalent on Earth would have done was the
fact that the foliage of the trees was not confined to variations on the theme of green, though a great many of
them were. But the others were the most wonderful pastel shades of all the colours of the rainbowi gentle blues,
understated pinks, delicate yellows, subtle mauves, and every otler colour you could imagine, spread throughout
the whole view, each colour merging into the next. It was like looking at an entire planet coloured from the
palette of Thomas Kinkade or Hong Leung.

And when she turned round to look behind her, at the sea, it was a more beautiful blue than any ocean she
had ever seen; aquamarine where it lapped over the white sand of the beach, shading to rich cobalt further out.

Small islands, each surrounded by itsring of white sand, bloomed with the same multi -hued pastel shades of
foliage as the land did. The arch of sky above was an equally incredible cerulean blue, the occasional puff of white
cloud drawing the eye, while the sun warmed everything to what felt like the ideal temperature.

il dondthesmuepdPosredl | y paradise, ®u &h ninh ism g h &@r peaféctioe. rButéghiswh i | e
has got to come as close as anything does. 0

i¥e-ess 0 the Doct or maypagiageaconveyamutitide wf reactions with that one elongated

syl l abl e. ?dFamey ndadwaldk t oward the valley.
fives,butican | just go and take a quick |l ook at the beach fir
promised. iBut | candt rotehave alook! Pledsasds e and

i Ok agffyougo, 6 sai d tihws tOhocytoour .i n a minute. O
She threw him a grateful smile and ran down the slope of
she halted, then began examining the sand at her feet the Doctor could see minor items of marine debris and

the occasional pebble or stone in which she was taking an interest.



The Doctort ur ned to shut the TARDIS door, but didnét follow h
against the TARDIS, folding his arms, and watched her with a tolerant i even fondi smile. He found himself
thinking, a s he followed her progress; about himself and her. The two of them. Assessing their history i
relatively short though it had been, so far 1 and their relationship.

Wh at made Finn different from the others, so speci al t o |

friend as readily moved to tears as she was, that was for surelAndsh e di dnét have Rosebs degree

Marthadés streak of ambmdaypienadenzesi Do .a Bastigatibn. Janeds i nstinc
Al t hough he wasndt being quite fair to her, thinking abo

up to the plate wheneyvddhave kedan type ef doarage, aind characier, and h8rhoer,

and he knew shedd follow him unquestioningly intoiany situ:

in a way that he found endearingly unique to her i understated in their expression, compared to those of the

others.
But that wasndt it. Not by itselfeé
Was it just that she understood him so well, empathized

probably never be able to evaluate to himself, or express to her, howimportant that was to him. But did she also
bring to him something else, that was peculiarly her own?

Down by the waterdés edge, she was squatting, absorbed in
beach. A shell ? A pebble? Aee 8t this distahce.ewe at hered wood? He

But onthistrip, he 8 d | e ashexdiddring th leinh something all her own. And, watching her now, he
could see it in action.

What she had, more than any of the others, esested in the s
and intense appreciation for the marvels of the physical universe.

He thought of the planet ssthepdt cthrowanf htelre i mnitvher svéd i tshé yed c
since hedd taken her to Ametr i ne; tars thegalbxien ITle wayher fadea u n a t he
had | it up in sheer, unadul terated delight as hedd shared
furry beast on a new planet, a shower of blue meteoroids through the atmosphere of another, a milehigh
waterfall of | iquid nitrogen, a strange and exotic flower |

It was his sheer joy in the discovery, or the sight, of the new and strange, the spectacular and the marvellous,
that she shared to agreater degree than any of his other companions during this regenerationi and quite a few
others, come to that.

When situations had arisen with people, with other speci ¢
whatever she could to help, right from that first time on Mynydd y Seren. He knew she always would, for as long
as’

He broke off, shied awayfrom the place where that idea led.

But 1 returning to his original train of thought 7 the most special moments of all had undoubtedly been
whenever they were linked together in appreciating some treasure of the universe, tiny or spectacular.

Likethats nowf al | , back on Kvitverdenteé

Leaning back against the TARDIS, he found himself smiling anew as he watched her.

Sherose to her feetandraisedt he i tem sheéd found toward the sun, | ookin
in her breath quickly. Then she looked up at him, and smiled brilliantly. She brandished the object above her
head.

AiDoctor, |l ook at this!o she called excitedly, l'i ke an en:
share it with him. He found himself smiling even more broadly as he pushed himself away from the door and
went to join her.

AWhat is it?d0d he asked.

il dondt kbeautifyl! bulHolid 6ist up to the I1ight!o She held it c

It was a pebble about the size of his thumb joint, polished smooth by the action of sea and sand. It was

transparent, like a piece of glass, and looked quite unremarkable until he did as she said and held it up to the

7



Il ight. Once he did, it was filled with ythroughttedtemad!l our , as
structure of the stone, like hundreds of tiny prisms broadcasting their rainbows.
ANi ce!d he approved, squinting at it with appreciation b
iCome and take a Jjoyausly,todsingtheepebbleigtgeeas heforeé storing itin one of her
pockets.
Within a few minutes he found himself as absorbed as Finn in beachcombing along the tideline, examining
the small but new treasures to be found there.
After a while, Finn remarked, iYou k n®awljustig@dback o the TARDISJanchgrab i t t hi r s
a drink before we do anything else?0
The Doctor, absorbed in his scrutiny of a tiny and fascinating shell, trying to work out what kind of creature
ithadori gi nally housed, grunted an absent assent. I't was only
f o oil clearly addressing herself, not himi that he looked up.
She had reached the TARDIS, but was standing with her back to the door, looking down & him.

AWhat 6s t?mehenaaslked, before reali zi ng getmeForampafactdyr . Of cot
obvious reason. He stood up, and began to walk up the slope toward her to remedy the problem, rummaging in
his pocket.

fEx-cuseme ! Gerepliedi ndi gnant |l y. ANo key, remember? I candt ope
And on the word O6thaté, she snapped her fingers.

Instantly , the TARDIS doors swung open.

The Doctor halted abruptly, and they both stared.

Silent astonishment reigned for several seconds. Then Finn turnedher startled eyestoward the Doctor, as he
slowly began to move up the slope again until he stood beside her. She was wearing that look she got when one of
his memories surfaced in her mind. He could almost see thescenario playing out in her head: River Song in the
Library, telling him the doors could be opened that way 1 and doing it himself, for the first time, to see Donna
waiting inside for him.

iDoesidsohees t hat happen for everyone?0 Finn asked, dumbfou

ANo, inot, doeasi d the Doctor, even more astounded by the i mj

They stared at each other for a few more seconds. Then Finn turned andjuickly went in and up the ramp.
The Doctor followed her.

She came to a stop in front of the console, then put out her hand to touch it, as she so often did.

AThank you, 0,leokiegusatathedTime Bdtot.| vy Al &6 m honoured. 0

That was something else Finn did that hardly anyone else had ever done. She always spoke to, and about, the
TARDI S as if it was a person. Al ways referred to it as 0y
the TARDIS was responding to. Or maybe it had simply been listening to her, and making its own judgementsé

Either way, it was a thought-provoking development.

Astill want that drink?0 he asked. It was easier to tal/l
someti mesé

fiYeah, b urhight matkhei nikt la b r a nhltlye,ghiost ef la grin, sasashedexitedvitie tontrol room.
fiA medicinalone. For t he shock! 0o

Chapter 3
Chrysalis
Half an hour later, Finn was already running out of superlatives for the experiences Felindre was giving her.
As she and the Doctor had wal ked across the valley to th

but gorgeous scent as they brushed through it, and the flowers that thrust up everywhere did their best to

compete. Strange but beautiful birds flew overhead from time to time, colourful and exotic as any on Earth.
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Their calls, while unfamiliar, were also beautiful. Felindre seemed to be doing its utmost to satisfy every one of
her five senses.

Now, standing on the edge of the lake, looking atthe waterfall, she could see that the cliff was not pure rock,
but lined with veins of quartz, and everywhere points of light sparkled where the sun fell on it. Delicate plants
with leaves like filigree grew in every crevice, and what looked like small birds swooped and hovered over the
whole cliff face, even flying through the falling water.

The Doctor had dropped to his haunches and was subjecting the various rocks and stones at the edge of the
water to close scrutiny. Lots of them, too, sparkled in the sunlight, and he was holding each one up close to his

face, squinting intently.

AFound something interesting?0 Finn enquired, recogni zini

The Doctor tossed her the lump of quartz he had in his hand.

iSee anything therskedyou recognize?0 he a

Finn looked at it carefully. Small, shining metallic flecks caught the sun as she turned it. The colour looked
very familiar , but she knew it was easy to mistake the thing she was thinking of for something else

fiCopper? 0 s he hsaggestngtende 6somet hing elsed first

The Doctor shook his head

ifiGol d, then?d6 she said, voicing her original suspicion.

She was surprised when he shook his head again.

fiThat, Fionnula Thornton, is tascenium,0he announced.

iNever heard of it,o Finn told him.

AYou woul dndt have, 0 fdurd inaygurtime. dn fact, theked sm@®tt kaere/n i n
system. Not even in your galaxy, come to that. But about a thousand years in your future, and in another galaxy,
far, far away from yours, it gets discovered Tascenium. The hardestworkable metal everidentified . An

engineerds dream mat ewdryaveryf aresomeExtcadpmngsapp®8uéntl| vy,

stones around him thoughtfully.thibfpthnetphmasé be

your

sol

her e. ¢

dopdeidn
AiWow, 0 said Finn, making round, respect ful eyes at t

AThat 6d make a decent bit  tikeh. p oHokpeet nnoobnoedyy &f so rn ostoi ntceebdo! doy

he pi

The Doctoddsinditl émve a particularly encouraging quality

Humans didndédt have a very good recor dresgltoen it ¢ ame

t o

pl un

AWonét this CBOB status thing protlect it?0 she asked, tr

Then he Bopée edo, dnyway. Ri ght! Come on! o

He got to his feet and headed for the forest on their left.

Finn was so close on his heelghat she nearly bumped into him when he stopped without warning.

iwWhato she began, but he abruptly raised a hand,
He was staring at the forest, but when she followed his line of sight, there wasnothing untoward to be seen. Then
she realized he just happened to be staring in that
of him. He was concentrating on something else.

His head began to move in strange gestures, first lo&ing down and to his right, then straight ahead and
slightly up, then over his left shoulder, almost as if he were a scanner trying to locate a target. Then his hand
shot into one of his pockets and wrested his stethoscope out of it. He shoved the earpiees into his ears and then
unexpededly dropped flat to the ground, pressing the chestpieceagainst the rock underneath him, shutting his
eyes tight to cut out any distraction while he listened.

Finn stayed silent, and as still as she could, intent on notdisrupting such fierce concentration. Only when

Ailn theory, o0 the Doctor agreed, but his tone of voic

e wa'

silencin

di

rect |

heopened his eyes, jumped up and stuffed the stethoscope ba

He frowned at her ; not because she6d asked the questi on,

13

Earthgula&et ol d her.
I didndot d6eel anything
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AOh, very, ver ydistdissisggwihnatwave of hicharmlehed , f act t hat she wasndt a:
such things as he was. ABut def i ni tiehepaused searchirgtfohtieu a k e . An
rightword i flodda bout it . 0o

AWhat ?0

He stood with his hands thrust into his pockets for a few moments, deep in thought, and di diéeh answer
he I ooked up and b e bewe thinda Ovehrew! Glor iognht Isyh.al I i we ? 0 He invite
the forest with a wave of his hand.

AiOoh, yes! o she agreed, with a very effective bit of mimi

Walking through the multicoloured flora, positively glowing in the softly filter ed sunlight, raised their
passage from merely 6a walko6é into the real msrambow-magi c, Fini
tinged wings fluttering like moving diamonds, hovered over flowers of every conceivable shape and shade; beetles
with carapaces shining with endless variations of iridescence scurried along the ground or clambered yp plant
stems and tree trunks.

There seemed to be a large population of small, furry, long-tailed mammals who took time from expertly
traversing the trees branches to stare at them with apparently intelligent interest and then chitter to each other
before moving on. Their fur wasstriped cream and brownish-grey; had the Doctor and Finn been aware of its
existence, theydd have knowg mbédgl svef er |J@vblidbindg, doa, sang i t i v
and called as they flitted through the almost luminous sunbeams falling through the tree canopy. Small creatures
resembling tiny deer sometimes crossed their path, looking at them wonderingly with huge, dark eyes before
moving on.

fiNoti ce anything particular about this place?0 said the Do
in his pockets.

AfApart f r oustabouts hlee imogt wonder ful ©pl ace |piomptedefishing seen, vy

for a clue.
fiThere is that, o the Doctor agreed. AiBut | was thinking
organi zed. I f this was Eart h, f or ranathert Andiothe case bféhe e 6d be pr

mammalsy ouéd know that because theydd be displaying cautionar
behaving like that. Those deer creatures simply raised their eyebrows and moved on; neveseemed tooccur to

them we might be dangerous. Those things in the trees are just pointing and giggling. No local equivalent of

spiders or other insect predators. No evidence of carnivoresofanygenus, that | d6ve spotted. Ar
athoticing things, m e, nothing but vegetarians endctamduirtkers, symbibgis and blissful

ignorance of the concept of danger as far as the eye can s

iDonodt knock it,o Finn advised him. iNice to know somewl

1

Oh, | dd,0 talses uDced Thmsual, 0 ihe Osepest ed. fiTo see it all
harmoniously to quite such a degree. Butnot knocking it. Definitely not knocking it 7 0

He suddenly broke off, as his eye caught something.

i Oooh! Notwh at Wh ah®dsasked, and suddenly angl-bighpald f t o t he
green fern-like plants.

Awhat 6s what?06 Finn questioned, following him.

AThat, o said the Doctor, suddenly stopping and pointing.

AOh! o Fi nn c o uekcthmadidn ofgurpeisee nt her

The thing lay in a space in the fernswhich so exactly matched its shapethat one could be forgiven for
thinking theyo6d been grown specifically to enclose it. It
long and perhaps two feet wide, tapering to a sharp point at one end with a blunter bulge at the other. It looked
as if its texture would be something like soft leather or suede.

AiNow thatoés what | cal | a chrysalis!o said the Doctor, Wi

i A ¢ hr ymreechoed startled i one that size was completely out of her experience.

10



o

AiOh, yeteloccAmdant 6s about to emer ge, chegrfully,lpantingoFnk of it ,
realized he was right; whatever was inside was stirring with increasing vigour, making ripples move across the
surface.
She made a deliberate effort to fight down her instincti)
Doctor just been telling her this was an ecosystem without predators? She glanced at him,uncertainly, but he
was just standing there with a look of excited anticipation. Well, if hewas ndt worri edé!
Even so, she couldnét prevent her spontaneous reaction o
split tore the length of the chrysalis. He grinned at her and patted her hand on his sleeve like a parent reassuring
their nervous child, then went back to watching the occupant emerge, lit by the sunshine pouring down on it from
above.
They watched, spellbound, as the creature slowly pu$ed its long, slender body upright, straightening on its
delicate legs, each withtwo joint s, one effectively creating a foot, the othersomething over halfway up the leg, the
equi val ent of . Therehvwemfvenpaiss ofkegsespread out either side to support the body i no, four:
the fifth set of two limbs nearest the head were smaller, and ended in what could only be described as three
fingered hands, each finger tapering to exquisitely fine points.
From the bulge of the pale mauve torso, just behind the head, slowly unfurling to spread up and outwards,
extended two double wings, closer in shape to those of a butterfly than a dragonfly. The majority of the wing area
was transparent, shot through with delicate veinsi veins that took their colour from the mauve and green
borders around the edges. But it was the head that was more remarkable than anything else. Or, more
accurately, the face.
Because the creature had a face. Not that of an insect. Admittedly there were two long, delicate aiennae
extending from the top of its head, but there were no bulging compound eyes, no proboscis. Instead, the round
face, a pale biscuit colour, was astonishingly similar in layout to a human face. It lacked a nose, but there was a
small slit of a mouth, out of which an almost invisible tongue -like organ flickered occasionally.
And the eyes! They were black and featureless in themselves, and in general shaped like elongated pears
with the smaller tips pointing out to the side of the head; but they ch anged shape in a way that recognizably
denoted expression and mood. The creature seemed to be looking about it, taking in its surroundings, with an air
of discovery and wonder.
Finn found she was so caught up in the moment that she was hardly breathing. Something so beautiful,
burstinginto theworldr i ght in front of her and the Doctor! Shedd nev
again experience anything like this. Instinctively wanting to share the moment more intensely, she let go of his
arm and, instead, took his hand and clasped it tightly.
The movement attracted t he edstraightauthem.0Ns i & bhet. 8heireyesn, and it |
locked. The creaturestared at her for a few moments. Thenthe widened eyes relaxed, andit to ok its first
tentative paces, stepping out of the discarded chrysalis, oming closer. Itdi d ndét s o matthbDoatsr, gl ance
who was watching carefully and with wonder. I't came for wa
thanherown,was only two f eet ©oitseyssctill gagiagyntohearso m Fi nnoé s
And then something really magical happened. Becausetogether, its mouth moved and its eyes narrowed
into what was unmistakably a smile of utter delight. And it spoke.
fiFelindre,0 it said, in a musi cal , Cprtaiply notgudiblespecehi theyBverée was it s
clearly hearing it telepathically, not with their ears. Something Finn would never have been able to do before
meeting the Doctor and inheriting a degree of his telepathic abilities during the transfer of some of his mind in to
hers. But it was a more sophisticated means ofcommunication even than that, b ecause although that was the
only word it used, both Finn and the Doctor understood that w hat it was really saying was,| greet you.
AfTel epathy, 0 breathed t he Dseotdnaes, nocdlecsonsof wards.eJdstthe f Of a sor
name ofitsworld. But everything conveyed. Brilliant!o Hi s eyes gl

thing,d he said to the creature. il dm t he Doctor. And t hi

11



fiFelindre, 0 i t ,witheapdifféresntdntonation , turning to look at the Doctor with a smile for a brief
moment before returning its gaze to Finn again. | am happy to meet you, my new friends .

Finn said nothing, just stared entranced iraidedhertfreee cr eat u
hand and, with the creature smiling at her, gently touched its face. Equally slowly, it raised one of its forelimbs
and the three delicate fingers were laid on the skin of her cheek.

AYousobreauti ful, o Finn breathed.

fiFelindre, 0 t he <cr eat Bdalingdre id beautifl a | ameonly. part of her .

AiDo you have a name?0 Finn asked.

fiFelindre. d&elindre i lampartofher, t he creature repeated. Finn didndt r
by that7 nor even howsheknewt hat the creature was a 6shebd. But she did.

The creature lowered its hand and stepped back to look at them both.

fiFelindre. &ou are my friends. | am happy to have met you. But now | must fly. | must fly in the

sunlight.
i Oh! Yebs!'gVeltdon o6t | et us keep yo Birstdlight hteh &odngodant t ol d her .
occasion' Don6t want to get in your wawlyt o Ofave ometgoyyou!Einj oy you

The creature smiled at them.
fiFelindre. d shall see you again, my friend Finn, my friend Doctor . Farewell!
And with that, she flexed those glorious wings and was suddenly airborne, the transparent sections glistening
in the sunbeams, the mauve and green borders lit to an intensity that could hardly be looked at. Swiftly she rose
up toward and then through a gap in the tree canopy.
iFel i ndr e ¢y fading imto distance. Goodbyeé!
Then shewas gone, and they were left staring at the empty scrap of blue sky into which she had vanished.
For long moments they stood stock still, held immobile by the wonder of what had just happened. Then the
Doctor flexed his fingers around Finnds, and they |l ooked a:
fiwell, that was worth coming to see wa s n 6dbseived With a bnale.
il f | dvop doen deadlin the next five mi nut e s, it would stil! have been wor
Finn said fervently.
She was surprised by the violence of the change in the Do
Dondt say things Itly,anddropped her hand bsaf it bad sudderdy tburneghim.
What 20 she asked, mystified.

13
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AAbout dying, o0 he said, almost angrily.

ASoifiry was only a figure of speech, dndhteomemwmmset ayduher |
She could almaost see the effort it took him to recapture the original mood.

AiOf course you di dnoiathdr. hefi 2gmrdéte dt, alaerdamsynidetdi ce of me.

He dropped to his haunches, ostensibly examining the discarded chrysalis. But Fnn watched him with a puzzled

frown.
There was something going on in his head that she didnoét
usedin that context, upset him so? He was probvioeslydd. ng it didndét matt e

Whatshe didndt k n omMwy. wa s
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Chapter 4
The Airbridge

In the Complex (its full nomenclature was the Institute for Planetary Research Felindre Foundation
Complex, but of course nobody was ever going to recite that
Nine Three One Cyraenie, her work shift over, was making her way to her private quarters in the accommodation
block.
She was unaware that her face was wearing a rather anxious frown as she traversed the corridors to the door
of her apartment. She was really beginning to be worried, but she di dndédt Kkhoeverwhat to do
whether she should, yet. Perhaps she shouldvait a little longer 7 justunt i | t omorr owée
She placed her palm on the biometric panel beside the door, and it slid open in resporse. Slowly she walked
in, deep in thought, still wrestling with her dilemma .
A couple of hours later, she decided shaeally must make a concerted effort to put her concern aside. For the
time being, at any rate. Perhaps she should update her personajournal instead. That would be something to do,
something to distract her. Now, where had she put ité? I't was only a
it. Where had she used it last? Probably in her bedroom.
She went to the cabinet beside herbed and pulled open the top drawer. There it was!
And so wassomething else, beside it. Somethingt hat shoul dndét have been there.
A small wooden figurine, gazing at her with its painted eyes.
Ghyronds soobit.
It stood on a scrap of paper. Mystified, Cyraenie pulled it out from under the tiny creature and looked at nine
words in Ghyronds scrawled handwriting.
fiPlease keep me safe 0 i t And pleaskkeep nie secretd
Perplexed and anxious, she slowly reacled down and picked up the soobit. How long had it been there?
Leaving aside the question of how Ghyron had even got into her rooms, why had hedone it? Why did he
suddenly want her to have the soobit? Why was it a secret? And where i the cause of hercurrent anxiety i had
he been for the past two days? Where was haow?
Shestared at the tiny wooden figure as if it would answer her questions.

But its painted black eyes simply stared at her inscrutably, and told her nothing .
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The Doctor and Finn came upon the bridge suddenly. As they crested a rise, there it was in front of them
winding its way down from the smallish mountain now over on the left of their view, just above the treetops,
curving around the shoulder of another hill and out of sight to their right.

AAh, 0 said thmeviddebuman faédbhprint. Somebodyds here, some\

Finn looked at the slim, rather elegant structure. It appeared to bea single track railway of some sort, poised
above theforest on slender but presumably sturdy girders. Theircopper-l i ke col our prompted her t
woul dnot be made out of tasceni um, would it?2?0o

fAlloy of it, probably, 06 t he Doctor agreed. AfLooks as if somebody wa
light as possible, soi build your bridge as small and light and unobtrusive as you can. For which you use the
strongest material you can. Top marks for consideration and aesthetics,| 6 d. & ay

Ailt is a rather beautiful design, 060 Finn concurred.

They stood looking at it in silence for a while.

It took a few moments for Finn to register the change beneath her feet; the Doctor was aware of it before she
was, and held up his hand. She looked at him, puzzled, then began to realize what he was alerting heo.

From an imperceptible beginning, the ground was beginning to shake.

Very gently at first, and then more identifiably. A vibrating sensation.

Another earthquake.

The sensation never rose beyond a gentle quiver, but there was something else. Lia far-off sound, not in
her ears, but inside her head. I't was so faint she coul dn
long as the quake did; as that faded, so did the sound.

Silence fell once more. They looked at each other.

AiDi d heathat 70 Fi nn asked. Ailn your head?o0

The Doctor nodded.

Afodd. o He repeated the word hedd used earlier. ADefini i

Then, in the pause that followed, they began to be aware of aother faint sound impinging on the
consciousness. But this one was definitely external. It was coming from the bottom of the hill somewhere, near
the bridge.

i Wh #&sthat? &inn wondered.

il think, o said the Doctor, with the air of someone gi vi |
for that is aululation . 0

Finn gave him an old-fashioned look. The Doctor raised his eyebrows innocently.

ANow there, 0 he obsewholeldot foifs tahifnagcse. 6sayi ng a

AfSuch as?0 she enquired with exaggerated politeness.

i0Ooh, i tidohe sguiatediatit@ 0ldknow perfectly well what a ululationis 7 lonlysai d O6What 6s t hat
as arhetorical question to show | @ noticed the sounda nd was i nviti ng agpdaudefinite comment 6
secondary implication of @re we going to take a look to se e  w tcausiny §?0 dbomc over it?0

Finn couldndét help | aughing.

AfRemind me never to pémled. poker with you, o0 she

fi G o dedision, lbe approved. ifiCome on! Wedbve got a wululation t i nves:

energetically.

A couple of minutes later, he found himself bursting out of a particularly thick cluster of the multi -hued
foliage into a large clearing. After a delay of a couple of secondsFinn emerged likewise, and stopped to survey
the scene in front of them.

Much of the floor of the clearing was naked rock, though there were patches of grass and smaller plants
scattered over its surface. The two feet of one of the pairs of girders that supported the bridge above them were
embedded into the rock in the centre of the clearing, rising up impressively to the underside of the deck on which
the track rested, somesixty feet above their heads. The bridge, swinging in a majestic curve from left to right,

cast a dark shadow of its outline on the otherwise sunlit space.
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Here, the sound they had heard, almost deafeningly loud before their abrupt advent, ceased for a moment, as
a multitude of small eyes turned toward them. Ranged dl around the clearing, squatting on their back legs, their
paws held in front of their chests, were dozens and dozens of the small brown and cream furred creatures they
had seen earlier. Some st alone, some were gathered in clusters, some in pairs.They were allcongregated
around something that lay on the ground some yards avayi s omet hi ng that Finn couldndt vyet
But the aura of the little animals was so unmistakably distressed, s he knew it wasndt going t
good.
One of the soobits unexpectedly bounded across to them and stared up at them with manifest intelligence in
its small, black orbs. Then it reached up with one long-fingered pawandt ugged at t he Doctordés tro
fYes, 0O the Doctor said to it,omsngi.fo it had spoken. fil K |
The rest of the soobits resumed their keening, but at a reduced level, and parted to allow the Doctor and Finn
a clear pathway through to the thing that lay on the rock, in the dark shadow of the bridge.
The body of a man. The way he lay and thattitude of his splayed limbs made it very obvious most of the
bones in his body must be broken. He was lying on his stomach, his head turned to one sidethe undamaged side
of his faceclear to view, the other pressed against the rock. A mass of lightbrown curls stirred gently with every
air movement that encountered it.
As the Doctor dropped to one knee beside the body, he ca
shudder, and remembered her acrophobia; she was evidently visualizing what musthave happened to the dead
man.
Choosing to ignore her reaction, he pulled out his glasses and put them on, and surveyedthe corpse carefully.
The little creatures, still keening softly, made an attentive audience; he felt a bit like a seventeenth century
surgeon in the well of a lecture theatre full of observers.
Suddenly they all fell silent, their eyes and ears all turned in one direction. Finn and the Doctor looked, too;
the sound of someone or something pushing through the undergrowth was rising in volume. Coming ever nearer.
Instinctively Finn took closer station by the Doctor.
As if a signal had been given, every one of the tiny animals bolted for the edges of the clearing, scampering up
trees and diving into bushes. Just one remained visiblefor a few moments, clinging to the trunk of one of the
trees, its black eyes fixed on themas if it was trying to impress something on them. Then it, too, vanished from
sight.
The Doctor turned his attention back to the corpse, not even looking up asa man emerged from the
undergrowth and brought up short, staring at them in astonishment. Then his eyes were inevitably drawn to the
dead body, and he flinched.
AWho is it?0 he demanded, striding forward. @@ihg icoboming to
Ghyron?o
Finn looked him over. He was a youngish man, perhaps as much as thirty years old, wearing the sort of
institutional one -piece coverall shetended to associatewith the forensic investigators in the police television
dramas back on Earth, though this was neither white nor blue, but a pale brown. He had a pleasant countenance
that was probably normally open and friendly. Now, he stared at the broken body with reluctant , horrified
fascination, before tearing his eyes awayto look at the two of them.
AAnidvho ar e y o uhesitantlyehisaacd dightly hoarse with shock.
Still without looking up, the Doctor pulled the wallet containing the psychic paper out of his pocket and held
it up in the youThgmamtaaka soupt bfisteps ¢loser and peered at it.
i Y o u 6 Interplanetary Agency Investigator? 6 he bl urted out.
The Doctor di dn @simpldsniffed rstill withoutlooking epr, and returned the psychic paper to
his pocket.
iwho yaure® he asked, pointedly, suddenly fixing the young

ildm One Four Four Ashlaik, 0 said the discomposed subj ec:
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AAnd what, exactly, are you doing here, Ohmight®gpng Four As|
him by about four or five inches, maintaining that penetrating eye contact.

il 6mengi neer on the air br isérgtechéckacmlpld of hedridgadirders,andii | wa's
well, we all knew that Ghyron was missing. ThatisSeven Two Two Ghyron, unbapgyt it 2?0 He
gl ance at the body. iSo when | heard the soobits making t|
investigate. | mean, | know what a soobit call sounds like usually, but | 6 v ethem enake a racketliaer d
thatt Sol wondered it if might be twhatibhhaeyéd, foundo@®kyhdbngéan{

His voice trailed off, and he swallowed convulsively as he considered thedreadful difference between his
theory and the reality of the broken body on the rock before him.
ARi ght, 0 said the Doct afewh it h@s i $ tadabed/tpehDpctor. Thisliseny 6 s get

assistant, Finn Thornton. 0 He cast her a quick glance; it suddenly occu
orRose,or even Martha, |like that, hedd probably have been on 't
In contrast, Finnds eyes wer e sersensdofherfown identity vastaomu s e ment .

secure to bedented by being described ashis 6 a s s i. YUnlesnthabdreally was how she thought of herself, of

courseé
At any rate, it was evident he was Gdtealiggdisnelgf, hewentcat ch a r
on st Armnrdl ywmdédteo find out whatodés going on here on Felindre.d

ADid the I fPR send you?06 Ashl ai k asked.

Finn tried to work out how they could get him to explain what he meant, but the Doctor was ahead of her.

fioi! Infull, pl ease, 0 heCasnaditd sctuarntdl ya.cr oy ms . 0o

AOoh, sorry, o0 Ashlaik apologized. il mean, the Institute

id€Curse they did, o the Doctor confirmed.

fiTheymust¥« e been quick off the mar k, 0 oslabeah midsingforawio Bays. i mpr es s e
How did you get here so fast?o0

fin the vicinity anyway, 0 t hrmeattdd.cSoweaveresser straightdherel . Think@fOn anot he
us as a different soaught Filyndg &parpecl digiondtmea ®cusedhonhi s
Ashl ai kOaggi probfiem is, we didndt get much of a briefing.
us exactly what you know about all this. Everything. Pr e t e n ccomplet® strangers and don &khow a thing
about it.0

Finn fought down her smile. Had the young man but known it, it would have been hard to better that
description ofthem! But t h e dirofauthontyédsl the trick.

AWel |l , 0 s slawly, thikkirg haadi,fit 6 s al | bpewmiaebitegtltly. But because
that many of us here, really, everyone sort of knows everyond i f you know what | mean? And |
supposed to keep only to designated areas of the planet, there are only so many places where people cae.b
Or are supposedtobeoHe | ooked at the body again, unable to stop his

oft heméo

Chapter 5
Cause of Death

AHow maothusroef t here on Felindre?06 the Doctor intuse?Poupted h
AOh, sorry, o0 Ashlaik apol ogized again. AWell , there are
scientists, and the rest of us are support workers fa them i admin, maintenance, catering, that kind of thing.
Wedr e her e t o cameokheirjab.uStuelying Frekindre and its moons. 0

The Doctor nodded to him to go on.

ifSo if something happens, it doesnkdtcotnakienuleodn.g fficArn dw oar dc of

days ago, according to Cyraenie Ghyron seemed to havei 0
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ACyraenie?d Finn interposed, thinking that iif she was su,
contribute her part to the conversation. Ashlaik glanced at her, then let his eyes linger.

AThat 6s Nine Thrheex Pinei rCy d .a ehmdic@llbaguesin tioerAstrogedlogy team.
Shegot worried when he didnét turn up for wontrs,andsMhen she t
couldnét findSbj muaofyiwherally, we all started keeping an e\
AUnof ficially?06 prompted the Doctor.

fi We I Ashlaik frowned, as if the strangeness of what he was about to say had suddenly occurred to hini
Aidondnk t@Ghyr onds beenofficidyéd t edle ma hsrsu gigge d . ABut we all knew

AnAre al/l of you based in one place?0 Finn asked. Ashl ai l
distinct impression there was now an element of interest, even admiration, in his glance. Shegave him a friendly
T but hopefully not too friendly i smile, encouraging him to answer.

Aln theory, weobre all based @ethe dbdewatofies,nop,lamdsagme infarmal s ai d . fi |
sleepingquarterssk e ki nd of been installed over ti me. You know what
tol eave what totcame allthe way backrdgwn to the Complexjust to do something as unimportant

ass|l eeping. o

AOh, yes, 0 Finnowmesastywedt hy mu méakho She couldnét stop he
Doctor, who shifted uncomfortably.

AfHow many observatories?o he enquired.

Aiwell, wedve got the two here on Felindre itself. Obser:

il magi bitoftnamirg,that, 6 t he Doctor commented drily.

AOneds up there, at the top of the airbridgepwrosaid Ashl
the other side of the planet. And then thereds one on each of ite moons.
samesensd t heyére more just small bases for conducting experim
all observatories. OnetoFive. t 6 s i past er . o He shrugged.

fiSoi three moons, then? 0 F i n ncasaadlykteidg,to sound asif she was seeking confirmation for
something she already knew

fiOf course, 0 s a i d slightylsurpaised, as if she should have known Inwardly wincing at her error,
she smiled at him again, hoping that would distract him from asking any awkward questions.

fiRight, thanks, Ashl ai k, 0 s\&iy delpfulhRut | hiokewe need you tdigo on being helpful.
Weneed to get Ghyron back to the Compl ex. And then find ou

Finn and Ashlaik both looked at him, perturbed by the suddenly grim tone of his voice.

AHow?0 echoed Ashl aiguréhkenhabaskobvii®us$s?0

The Doctor shook his head decisively, and squatted back down by the dead man.

fis this the time-honoured question, @i d he f al |, o rFinmeagirethe pushedd?o0

ANeither, o sfatlyd theo®lbcdor

He pointed to the back of Ghyronés head.

Finn and Ashlaik both looked more closely. Masked by the brown curls was araised welt about three to four
inches long, surrounded by some severe bruising.

AfSo?0 Ashl Woukindat s & ehapgenedivhen he fell ?20

ACoul dnodét have, 0 said the Doctor, in a tonéruseliket br ooked
that before he died . And coul drdhishéaed wheoroek iatt ihs m. Heds fallen for:
trust me, he didndét bouncewhi dhH Hheddodtwse rmipdndd ttloi tkgee d hfi sr, wa rhee.
anything could have connected withtheback of hi s head | i ke that. Pl us, 1l ook |

He leapt up with sudden energy and ran over to the base of the nearest girder, then began energetically

pacing back towards them, counting.

AiTher e, you see?0 he demanded, as one wHiitve dept|l arfded orsi
i nch! justjfurhped, bickodvderbet here. o fooveof tipeaii mtdeed . at AtTloe be t hi s f a
c o u | evendustd vbeenpushed He 6 d 6 vpesitihely thunthedé b e
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Finn and Ashlaik looked up, measured the relative distances with their eyes, and realized he was right.

ifSoédo Ashlaik began, sl owly.

iSo he was murdered, 0 said the dabwhad andwhly.lAadstoythem A And it ds
doing it again, should the urge come upon them.o

Ashl ai k, still stunned, |l ooked at Fi nn, as i f hoping she
a half-smile.

fil on@easonwhy heds cal l e axphiled wiba slighobshruygd si&hen things arendt

hef i nds out why. And then he makes them better. o

Administrator Zarramin leaned back in his chair and surveyed the current population of his office with a
carefully impassive face. Underneath the calm exterior, however, he was deeplyperturbed. Ghyron was no
l onger missing. He was now installed in the mortuary in t|
Nine Two Mirala, the chief medical officer. And here, in his office, four faces were staring at him, waiting for his
reaction.

One of the faces waghatof Ni ne Thr ee One Cyraenie, Ghyronds coll eague
A pretty girl, but now h er blue eyes were redrimmed, and her cheeks were still damp from where she had been
wiping away tears. Another belonged to the young engineer, One Four Four Ashlaik. His expression was a
mixture of distress, excitement, and the occasional flash of admiration whenever his glance rested on the young
woman seated beside him,whose namehad been given asFinn Thornton. She, apparently, was the assistant of
the fourth person in the room. The one leaning forward now to stare at him with penetrating, intent brown eyes.
The one Ashlaik had i#datroduced as fithe Doctoro

iSwoudbre an I nterplanetary Agenagpanthy vBet§ioDgat or 9?DoSuoe?§y
thatos a titl e, not a name. Rat her for mal , one might t hinl
i Oh, | donot do formal, 0o the Doctor assured him.

Finn caught Zarramin casting afastidiousglanceat t he Doct or és combination of brov
daps,and could almosth e ar h i m Ewidentln & ' Theycorder of her mouth twitched, briefly .

fWhat | dodo, 6 t he Do c tissort preldems. Amdryqu seem to have one Administrator.
Amurdered man. 0
Al fail to see how you can be so suSwi diedavaiss muha eos le\di, @u s
conclusion, surely?o0

iSuicides dondt bash themselves on the back aisinghifei r own
eyebrowshe cmAMdndét possi bl y habparécularpatt bf bip lead sifficiendyddrd o n t h
enough to render himself unconscious andthen jumped out from the bridge so far that he land ed twenty -five feet
away from it .0

Zarramin opened his mouth, then closed it again, unable to counter that argument.

fiSo, o said the Doctor, |l eaning back in his chair, fisome o]
why. Particularly why. o

AfBecauseé?0 Zarramin prompted him.

AfBecawmsgél we knotw khaw,i wei té&sdan isolated incident, or
risk for any reason, 0 the Doctor pointed out.

AOh, surely not! o Zarramin protested.

(@)

fBe nice to thioaktbe,sBdwdBdafslondonodt 2?know wdegertainycaru c¢c an
you? O He cocked an ey ebsitatedy thenihodded acknewtedgementw h o
AWhere idendyoustart your investigation, Doctor?0 he enqui.

il thought Cyraenie her e pmriakhtt oh&® tstae df itrhset Dwmertsoan tgd anc

grieving scientist. iSince she worked with Ghyron. Then
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Zarramin nodded slowly. He looked at Cyraenie.

APerhaps you should take the Doatggresktoedt.he fl aplotr ador wh aC¢
happened,] 6 m sure hedl | be very i nt er es tnexhggeratedsighiicancehinehi| | f i nd t
tone. Finn caught it and looked enquiringly at Cyraenie, who merely nodded, and stood up; so did everyone else,

except Zarramin.

iRight, then, 0 said the h@roOt owi.t h fAtWeed lil n wgeestt ioguat iodn.yoo ur
iAh,itylees i nvestigation, o said Zarramin, |l ooking at t he Do
know that an investigation was needed? We hadndét reported Ghyron official

Finn looked at the Doctor, wondering how he was going to field that one.

AThat 6s right, you hadnét, 0 agreed t hbetwdewzZa rorra mipn nsnienyge sa.
fi E v e e knewnhe was missing, buti no official report. Bi t  oPdobably just an oversight, of course, buti
made certain people wonder, that did.o

Ofcourse,t he only peopl e whodd himsefandkmnpbdt&arranmnghadinbway of we r e
knowing that. And it was a pretty safe bet that, in the circumst
superiors that might bring to light any hint of negligence .

iSo I dm going to put ever yo,mhedoscluded with a amile thateZartamimfoundut t hat ,
even more discomfiting.

A Weilyyes, of course, 0 he s dnddo fh acsaurlsye, IiAfE xtchedrl eebnst a ndyetah i n
staff can do to help, wedl6ll Ibd snaree at hjesveslwrsabrgopetatd rduoc tsi 00.n
with you fully. 6

AThank you, Administrator, 6 said Finn, when it became o0b
he was concentrating on Cyraenie.

fiShallwestat wi th your | ab, then?0d he prompted her

i Of courssaeé dg d9me a s ubdiutehdi sv owacye..0 APhleec alseed t he way out o f
and Finn behind her.

Ashlaik was about to follow them, but Zarramin stopped him with a gesture of his hand.

Sir?0 Ashlaik asked.
Where exact | oundwashak&h yr on f
By Girder 777 theshigrcurve wh¥rethe triick aomves out of the Blue Tree Valley before it starts

jun 1 -1
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up the mountain.o
AAh,ilyelshnow the place, 0 said Zarramin thoughtfully.
AWhat the Doctor says werktesom.ensfeTheitrr, @dckKsdhilms kdown out

takes the run up the slope. So if Ghyron was knocked out and taken on the train,then thrown out on that curve i

well, the trainés going at a good speed atthetethanthe poi nt . He
would in a | ot of other places. I't would certainly accouni
il see, 0 said Zarramin. He mideided Wprhafihkd ywg o Asdn ma &kr g |
hel pful. And dondét hesitate to give the Doctor any furthel
i No, sir, | wonot! o From the gleam in his eye, it was ol
inbeinghel pful to that young assistant of the Doctor6s. Wel | ,
ARi ghti,ont hyeeu go, 6 he said. Ashl aik nodded, and departed
Once he had gone, Zarramin dropped the front onfardpol i te c

to rest his chin on his clasped hands, thought deeply.
He really, really could have done without a complication of this sort.
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Chapter 6
The Mystery of Felindre

Finn found herself wondering, as Cyraenie led her and the Doctor to the Astrogeology lab, how anyone got
any work done in an environment like this.

Inside the Complex, all the corridors and their floors were a bright and immaculate white, and wherever t he
architecture permitted it, their roofs and walls were an equally spotless clear glass allowing the sun to illuminate
them almost to the point of eye-searing brightness while providing wonderful views of the surrounding forest
and the vistasbeyond. The inner walls, interspersed at intervals with doors to the work areas behind them, also
had numerous windows incorporated in them. The scientists must have to adopt some form of professional
tunnel vision as a strategy in order not to be distracted from their work i something the true scientific
temperamentwoul dndét find hard, probabl y!

But if shehad a view like that to look at during the working day, she decided, it was a fair bet her productivity
rate would be seriously affectedé

It was apparent that Cyraenie had a better hold on herself now. There were no more teard for the moment,
atleasti and she was talking to the Doctor fairly normally, con

valued friend and colleague confirmed.

fiWhendidyounoti ce he was missing?0 the Doctor was asking, sal
pocket s. Hedéd dropped the air of stern authority heb6éd use:q

fi H eibhse & dever missed ashift, all the timewe wor ked t ogether, 0 said Cyraenie, a
she now needed to use the past tense about her coll eague.
wrong. | thought he must be goingtor eport in sick, but | di dAdd heéds amepyhbi w
had to tell, in Professor Laryands absence. So | went to |

other friends, but no -one knew where he was. | even tried to contact the Administrator, but only got as far as
Helenay. Shed sis phrsonal assistant. She told me not to worry, Ghyron was bound to turn up. But people were
on the | ookout for hi m, after that.o
iYes, Ashl ai k explained to us how that wor ks, on,agreed t h
but Cyraenie slowed her pace and turned toward one of the corridor doors. It was labelledAstrogeology .
AfiThis is us, o she said, and held the door open for them
The Doctor halted a pace or two into the room, his attention immediately fastened on something in the
middle of the laboratory .
il take it thatds what Zarramin was referring to when he
The outer walls of the lab were lined with various screens and machines which Finn assumed wereneeded
for an astrogeologist to do their job. There were a number of machines that certainly resembled seismographsi
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she could see tiny needles tracing black lines on scrolling graph paper.She likewise assumed that an
astrogeologist was someone who stdied the geology of planetsi well, presumably any other planet beyond their
native one.

The centre of thelab was more given over to desks, clearly the work spaces of the individual scientists in the
team. Each one had what in the terms of her own culture, she would classify as a workstation’i certainly the
screens lookedmuch like the personal computers back onEarth. Even though the Doctor had implied that they
were more than a thousand years in the future from her native century, wha t s h e dinde asieing on Felindre
led her to guess that, with certain variations, the | evel of technol ogi cal advancemen
from that of her own time and planet.

However,one of t he wor k ar esaFhisong was a Iblacknedkuin. Thare haddearlg r
been a fire of some sort, which had left the desk surface charred and grey and the screen and other equipment on
top of it reduced to a warped, almost unrecognizable lump of melted material.

AiWhat happened hheDator, whipping ¢hdis glaasescandtpeering keenly at the damage.

fi donot know, 06 Cyraenie confessed, with a helpless shruq
find Ghyron. When | got back, Ansalar said shedd found it

AAnsal ar ?0

AA new colleague, 0 explained Cyraenie. AWell, not new h
Apparently Ghyron had asked the Administrator if he could have some extra help with the project he was
working on, so Ansalar was broughtin. Ex cept that she didndét get,intheenthadnce t o woa
she concluded sadly.

AForgive my ignorance, 0 said Finn, fAbut what sort of are:

sounds fairly self-explanatory i is there anythinge |l se covered under the Oastrod6 bit?0o

ANot really, o Cyraenie smiled. iifiNdoreedtf brnveobhognobodgn
isone ar ea of i nrateesinteregting,i otnh otuhgaht. 60s She glancedVYom®eer at the
Felindreds |lithosphere doesndt have a tectonic plate syste

AfAnd yet, you need sei smomgntadypfhasl, 100 wian gl héire PDloan oe ., i Mear
quakes. Meaning there are suddenreleassof ener gy intosthe phaneh@sioteresting

AThat we dondét know whatds causing them. There doesnbdt
That 6s one of the things Ghyron was studying. But | donodt
not.o

AAnd wh atwasfhreo jwoatki ng on?0 the Doctor asked, still intent

Al dondét k n sad, rémeribgrn@herrpioraise to Ghyron. Did it still hold, now he was dead? If

she didndét tell this wmadimdhappened taGhwdn? Sha et her lipnadd searched the
Doctorés face. Then she deci ded hofwHeaould 6 ts htaeytfitegl me she coul
about it. And he didndét want me. Redaps RrdfeksortLaryard e dmse t diles dealo wtf o

sectioni k nows somet hingé Y oButd definitelly ayat the ilnpressios ®hyraniwas.worried.
Hesai déo Her voice trailed off.

AwWhat did he say?0 Finn prompted gently.

Cyraenie looked ather.

iHe &ihhedasrighti webdd all need luck, 0 she said, a small furro
eyebrows.

The Doctor looked upalerty at t hat, but didndt comment.

AiSo how many staff have you got in this section, in all ?

fi T herokus. Professor Five Seven Three Laryan, Ghyron, and meOh, and Ansalar, of course. Four of uso

fWh e r thedPsofessornow? o

fiNot here at the moment . Hebés been working in Observator
tomorrow. 0O

ioOn o@omhet he moons, t hen?orethayilike? $ihmé I ogt or. diff Weatedt from
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ATheyodore all guite similar, o said Cyraenie. ASlightly di
theyore so s pec iwithehtiusiasrl and forethe dirst tinheihdr expr@ssion of grief was in abeyance,
overridden by professional fervour. Finn recognizediti sheéd seen it in the Doctor often
see the same sparkle in hiseyesnow r esponding to Cyraenieb

AiwWhat do you mean by O6special 6?70 she asked. Al mean, |
scientist, so, could youg ?0 She trail ed ofdietoekpard brttHegubjecn vi t i ng Cyr ae

The Doctor shot her a look of approval for her ploy, abandoned his examination of the workstation,
returned his glasses to his pocket, and leaned back against the ruined desk, his arms folded, waiting to hear the

astrogeol ogistés explanation.

iAwel |, Felindredal li nltyGyiddinid Belgen, ada emiledislightly as she caught the
Doctordés emphatic nod of confirmation. AiBut what makes t h
theybve got exactly the same sort of at mowithéverygasims Fel i ndr
exactly the same proportions as the mother planet. Whi ch |
ANot entirely unknown, but certainly rare, o the Doctor a

Cyraenie looked at him with interest.

AFor an | nvest i dgeaakawledgeybsucd veen cgeo,t hgaw en 6t you?0 she said.
The Doctorés mouth opened and he hesitated, realizing he:q
AYou might say ités a hobby of mine, o he agreed; Finn ma:

of ascience,too,dond6t you think?20o

il suppose so,0 Cyraenie conceded.
AfSo the atmosphere is o6firstlyé,0 the Doctor prompted. i
AfSecondly, that al |l tpneeiselytbecsanme distande,irtiderficali iand dimast perfectly

circular i orbits. Not ellipses.0

The Doctor pursed his lips and nodded, indicating that he agreed that was unusual.

AAnd is there a O6thirdlyd?0 he asked.

i Olhi r dthgbistofall 60 Cy assueed him. Becd@usewhile none of the moons has any fauna,every
one of them hasalmost exactly the same flora as Felindre itself. With one particular caveat. All and any species
of plant that dondt depend on externAhdpofl coat sagthgeds swi
remarkable.o

fiwhy? 6 Fi nn wawmted to kno

AWell, how coul d i ttendhohthoesangiofmitlheesr eo,f aecmrpotsys space?0 Cyraen
A T hveould be fantastic enough if it had happened on just one of them, but all three? And all at the same time,
because each one is at t he isvardsenorsentarily &ileder idieweelllo,p metnéts? | ulstto .
of the biggest scientific mysteries in the galaxy!o

Finn could see the Dotherd$ameypss gil @@ mpaegtlg foncetl imsele 6 s, but
to stick to his assumed role.

AiAnd Ghyron was working on that too, was he?0
Cyraenieds face changed visibly, but before she could re]
the lab.

The newcomer halted as she realized there were strangers present. She was very tall, almost as tall as the
Doctor, and very athletic looking i if anything, she was even bigger than him. She was probably a few years older
than Cyraenie, with dark hair that was cut into a short bob, and hazel eyes that were momentarily wide and

startled.
Al d&m sorry! o she,Hedeyesdoiagito Graenic onfilsidomndt realize you had
AiThis is the Doctor, and this is Finn,o0 said Cyraeni e, i

happened to Ghyron. o
Finn was sure that if sheo6d thewormané sesdromarne toghe dtftkeoh ner vous
them, the Doctor would have, too.
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Doctor, this is Ansalar, o Cyraenie went on.

1}

Ah'! Then it was you who found Ghyronds computer on fir

—

t 1 e f | iseyksthistimeAawards ltha miided workstation.
iYes, 0 s h etakmgansfow pace®rdwo into the lab, leaving the door ajar behind her. Al candt
i magine how it could have happened. I didnét think those |
fi Anitdneantwe | ost adata, GhyaiohdGyraenie, sadly.
The Doctor frowned.
ADondt you hsgstem@? 0a hbea cdkeunpa nd e d.
nwel |, y Ansalar ldoked uncertaini is omehow it hadnot wor ked. Somet hin
with the datastream. Whatever he was working oni whatever it was | was supposed to help him withi a | | gone. 0
She shrugged helplessly.
The Doctor was now wearing a quite formidable look.
ifSo GbBbgrwor king on something that Hsappeampehdsegsead,andpretty s
by a strange twist of fate 01 his tone was a masterpiece of disbelieving sarcasmi ial | hi s wor k gets irre

destroyed at the same time? One coincidence too many, con &ybu think ? o

The two women looked startled, asiftheyhadndét made t hat connection until now.
Al hadndt thoughtéo began Cyraenie, slowly.
A Weldmt hli nki ng, 06 sai d fitAned He broke affras ssrheone elde game in.
It was Ashlaik. He6d di scarded the c¢over &howwdaendasmbarepdlloversstyle ar | i er ,

top with ordinary trousers. He hesitated, apparently detecting the sudden strain in the atmosphere inside the lab,
then ventured a smile.

Ailf 1 dm not interruptingé?0 he began, carefully.

i N @it of it! Come onin! Join in the fun! More the merrier! 0 s ai d t he Ddlaid gestyreomaki ng a
invitation with one arm that came close to clipping Finn on the ear; she automatically moved her head quickly

outof the way, and coul dnot ghtéréwn that, of cdurse me etinelpfaildditanisge. hi m a s i

i Weth¢e Admi ni strator thought you might | ike a tour of the C
your investigation. So he suggested | déendy. your gui de. I f

AfYeah, why not?0d6 agreed the Doctor. fiHe swuhgiback toweel6 r e f i ni
Cyraeni e . iMi ght have some more questions |l ater, all right?2?9

AfYes, 0 she agreed. AAnything thatdéhn,| DbDedporntodofind out wl

ARi ght! Greawedr 8oal Ashbairk, 0 said the Doctor.

fEri fine, 0 Asshid, aihk s eyes on Finn. AThis way, thené?o

Ansalar watched as the young man ushered their two visitors out of the lab, then turned to Cyraenie.

ADouybhink heés right?0 she asked, incredulously. ADo y
on?o

il dondt know what to think, o0 said Cyraenie miserably.
looked at Ansalar with steady, if over-lumi nou s , eyes. fiBut I 61id, ttelalt ynawm 64 d md ti mic

out. ljust feelit;| knowit. And t hen | 6iedlly tkenppme wehdatt o Ghyron. o

Ansal ar nodded thoughtfully. Then she | metadobtherr ound t he |
now?o

fNotreally, 6 sai d Cyr aenitheProfesBoBU tl tbhemdrarckw Hed6l |l sort someth
of the day off, Anse. Therebés nothing to do here, at the |

AfOkatyhanks, 06 said Ansalar, heading for the door. Hal f wa

AWill you be all right?0 she asked.

iYseo Cyr aggnethe sai d
Ansalar looked at her searchingly for a moment longer, then nodded, and went out.
Alone in the lab, Cyraenie lookedf or | or nl'y at Ghyronés destroyed workstatic

again.
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il hope I dm right about you, Doctor, 0 she said to the em

Chapter 7

The Impact of Investigation

e And thisistheaccommodati on bl ock, o said Ashl ai k, gesturing arc
fAre those the names of al |l the staff, then?0 asked the |

It seemed to be a diagram of the room layout of the whole blod, with names displayed alongside each suite.

AfYes. I f you want to know if someoneés in or out, you j |
it tellsyou. Looki | 61 1 show you, 0 said Ashl ai k, Cyaerked s1gs tt ihlelm iowetr hé ol
right? So if |1 put in here O6Nine Three One Cyraeniebtoéo H

he said again, gesturing upwards.
On the wal/l scr een, bligforatwseeodds, thenaatuenedftd tree sohmaldlack on
white.
fiSo s h e 6 8ut 8oBightiFour Forayani heds anot her eirhgiérse dri,nilsihkeed tha s wor |

sohedl | be i nZeddingsloudiemaghtoeshake.the building apart, probably, knowing him !0 Ashl ai k
tappedthe new entry in, and waved at the screen. AfSee?0
And above them, Forayandés name flashed briefly in green.
Awhat if youbére in but you donét want to be disturbed?0 |
AThen your name f | ashes i metricallg operatell,nsdo ,t huen | deososr sy oaurber ea Itlh eb |
you canét get inounless youdre invited.
iNo override?0 asked the .Doctor, raising his eyebrows
inwel |, y e sfar emerigendes, but i9e ,
ifiGood, because 16l want to see i nteeDoctorf@ilyyr onds quarters
iOhéo Ashl ai k was momentarily disconcert edurPortrésShen | 6d |
She and the Administrator are the only ones who can overri.
But Perrili, it seemed, wasn 0 t in her of fice at t hat moment .
AWait here, 0 said Ashl aWdknbetloig! 61 | see if | can find her.
Whereupon he vanishedinto one of the corridors leading out of the reception hall.
fiUsefulsyst em, 6 observed the Doct or andlckingdgatthem@llsbrees Kk out i nto
again. AiwWonder what it says for Ghyron at the moment ?0
Il dly, he tapped Ghyrondés name into the search.

ADoctor! o Finnds r es pon sTae Doetos quickhy toekddiatherethen upatdhe ur gent .

screen, where she was looking.

Ghyrondéds name was flashing in red.

ANow, is that a glitch in the syisthe®octor pausel significantlyei t o updat
i s there s oomedosn er oionm Ghty rt he moment who doesndt want to be
side as he regarded Finn, inviting comment. AiShall we go

AWould there be any point onemeyehpwoeckedi ng 6nobd6?0 Finn asked

They grinned at each othe.

AfCome on, then! Before whoever it is decides to vacate
the corridor | ead,Finmgn loyal puBhity r onds r oom

AiHere it is!0 the Doctor yell ed, s keisonitscregdriverooutafitthal t by o

pocket. There was a brief buzz as he aimed it at the biometric panel, then the door popped open, and he darted

inside. By that time, Finn had caught up with him, and was hot on his heels.
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But, as a briefexploration of the rooms proved, they were too late. Finn was captivated by the display of
carved figures of Felindrean wildlife covering virtually every surface. But that was all that was of interest. |f there
had been someoneelsethere, they were already gone.

Elsewhere,in one of the other staff quarters, a communicator was being activated.

AfiYes?0 came the response in an almost inaudible hiss.

fl t 6 ©Thmspeaker useda low voice, barely above a whisper as if afraid someone could overhear.

AWell ?2rela phebl em?0

fillt s t h.aHe 630 cnmtackri ng connections. Heds |l atched on to the
He thinks thereds a |link with Ghyronés death. o

AHow do you know that?o

il heard MHemdoayndada. belerove. 6t 6s a coincid

AThen heds a danger. Li ke Ghyron. And you know what to
communicator at the other end wasshut off abruptly.

The speakerstared at it, responding as if the other person was still listening.

fives,| know what ot o doé

A few minutes later, Ashlaik reappearedin the reception hall.

ASorry, o he apol Pgyii angwhere. N6 | i deadiwheroedsheds gone!

The Doctor and Finn were standing apparently mesmerized in front of the wall screen,as i f t hey hadndt
moved from the spot since he left them. They dropped their eyes from the display and turned to look at him.

i Ah, wel | , never mind, 0 saidothe Doctor consolingly. il

AHope you werendt t oo bor ed wihhnapobogeticswilaeatFignone, 06 Ashl ai k s
AAbsolutely not, o6 the Doctor assured him. AVery wuseful |
Ashlaik looked at him as if not too sure what to make of that.

i Anyivanwardsandupwards!do sai d t he Doct Whataboutctteuvestafghetngury, t Hien?0

One certainly couldndét accuse Ashlaik of not having been
from one foot to the other, trying to find the one that was the least sore to put her weight on. Atacticthat wasnot
having much success, since both of them felt worn down to the anklebone due to following him along what felt
like every single corridor in the Complex. She wondered briefly if the Doctor ever got sore feet, with all the
ground he covered. Probd |l y not, drat the manée
AiSo that just |l eaves the outside grounds, o Ashl ai k was s
The Doctor had caught Finnbés covert attempts to find a c

cause.
AActual |y, Ilkaeulteallydo withathha momentisanice,colddr i nk, ¢ h el edteécsl agroe d . f
back to the catering hall. Have a sit-down and a think.0
Finn threw him a grateful look.
iOf coursel! 0 Ashl ai kAnsias tdplease Rinnj thauwss; itwas vpry abdosisea the
Doctor that Ashlaik was rather taken with her. Which he found both amusing, and slightly worrying, because it
mi ght mean it would be difficult to slip away and have a p
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he and Finn split up; if Ashlaik was forced to the choice of escorting one or the other, the Doctor knew where he

was putting hismoneyi or woul d, if he ever bothered with the stuffé
A few minutes later they were seated at a window table in the cateringhall, sipping at glasses of something

Ashlaik called jarolla juice : cream in colour, thick in texture, sweet in flavour, and very cool and refreshing.

i Mmm! | could get used to that b6 ofBsteadwd needctego Doasvalkor , putti

i Avak? 0 Finn coul dndHehebp!| dmodetecercieed dogaftert he mi |l es theyod al
covered!

fiNeed some thinking time,0 hesaid. He caught Finndés di smayed | ook, and foug
you two to come. You stay here. Have another jarolla jui:
and |l et you know what conclusions, |l dbgemsdtome, tédshl ahkeds al l

Ashlaik had half-risen at his mention of going for a walk, but now he sank back into his chair.

iOf cour se i thave aaqgtheryo at finding Perrili, laldout rranging rooms for you in the
accommodati on eblgomnl. whlefn wedr get back, that 6dakeplookdably whe
thewallscreeni that 61 1 tell you whi c¥Wouwi sniatnoer6 |sluibtee uypo utéhlBut eb ewiitnh e
wedll need to get yourtabgse bfoourpeoi nt added to the da

fiQuitesur e you dondédt want me to come with you, Doctor?06 Finn

ANah, 0 said the Doctor. iYou can bleb oduwti nwgh ayto uwe owen stehe m.l
Compare notes | ater. o

Finn caught Ashl aillkuddsisentausiasticfexpressidni @amd lobkedrat the Doctor as much
astosay,Thanksi | t hiBwkté!she didnodét say anything. The Doctor had
he left.

But the grin swiftly dissolved as he strode unerringly back through the corridors that would take him to the
Astrogeol ogy | ab. For something Ansalar had cl ai med was h:
thoroughly destroyed. It would definitely be worth seeing if he could determine whether some sort of flammable
agenthad been used to cause such a devastating conflagration. If he could, it might give a lead owho the
saboteur was

When he slipped in through the door, it was immediately evident the lab had been closed down for the day.

There was noone there, and a slatted blind had been lowered over the window thatlooked out into the corridor.

Which suited the Doctor just fine; that meant no-one was likely to interrupt his e xamination of the
workstation.

A quick burst of sonic screwdriver, and hewas in. He closed the door behind him, and headed for the
burned-out wreck. Glancing around, he saw a desk lamp on the undamaged workstation next to it, and lifted it
across to the desk he was interested in, anglig the light onto the charred computer.

This put his back to the door as he conducted his examination, which he was intent upon until suddenly he
had the impression that there had been a brief change in the ambient light of the lab. As if someonein the
corridor had cast a shadow onthe slats of the blind, or as if the door had swung quickly open and then closed
againi whi ch of course it couldnot have done; hedd cl osed it h

He straightened up and | ooked ar ochanded. Thewartialgloomlodhedt see t |
lab was still and silent, beyond the almost subliminal hissing noise of the rows of seismograph needles on their
rolls of paper. With a shrug, he turned his attention back to the workstation.

A few seconds later, something made such hard and sudden contact with the back of his head that
consciousness left him without him ever having the opportunity to realize it had gone.
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Chapter 8
Corridors

Finn looked up from the table to see Ashlaik coming back toward her.

AfSorry aibloujtudthatad to pop off and see to something, o he
waiting too |l ong. 0

Finn wondered if &édseeing to somet hi npumanfuncionhbuts euphemi sm
simply smiled.

iOof course not, o0 she assured him.

iRi ght fwoeul.d ySou | i ke to see the grounds?0

Hoping her feet had benefited sufficiently from the respite, Finn nodded.

AYou mentioned 6designated areasd earoftheeatesinphaldnd c omment e

out onto the network of paths outside the Compl ex. AfAnd pl
thatwor k ? Why is there a restriction?o

Awel |, bear in mind I 6m notSa IscdamibdispetigisostufiyButs ai d caut i o
lgat her the reasoning goes along the lines of: wedre aliens

affecting things. You know,theSc hr °di ngar ésw€aaffecting the outcome simply
Cand day | really ever got my head around that, butsome people get a bit worked up about it still. Anyway, what

the powers that be decided was that weo6d minjushioamngour Oef f
anywhere onthe planet we felt like .0

Als that what the Andwhbyroisdge icsalflcoerd, tthhreem?ai rbri dge6?0 Fin

Ashlaik shrugged.

AThis is a CBOB, 06 he said. iSo we couldndt make any phy!
had to be as high up as we could get it. Coul dnét chip a |
the forest to build a roadway, either. A train track up on a bridge through the air, over the top of the forest i that
was the only other practical way to get up there. We had to build the Complex where there was flat rock, of
course. Well, flattish, anywa y é And bui | dntoptof the cockiag mughuas possiblé. Just the
minimum of excavation for foundations, that sort of thing. Same for all the other buildings on Felindre. But it

meant the Complex had to be this far away from Observatory

i Sra bridge through the air, above the forest. An airbri
AfYes, 0O Ashl ai k agreed. AiObviously, we couldndét avoid ha
wore protective suits and all that while we were doing it. Wes t i | | have to, when web6re doing
Hence that natty piece of tailoring | wasAmmdkamradw gwenthreen omel vy
all owed within specified areas around the observatories ani
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AfDondét dyohati monstricting? Wi t h s u cFimn glancedeasount at the | pl anet
multihued foliage surrounding them as they strolled along the path.

He shrugged.

ANot really. I mean, the areas whlereghatisd natsomucgthe ar e pr et |
observatories. And not when we remember why the restrictions are there in the first place. After all, itis so
beautiful. | 6ve never come acr 0oss a n jhsmplanetiongrantedo Wk adl fedl thesamet hat t a k €
It 6d be crsk damagieglit ortinterferingwi t h it in some way, dondt you think?
temporary self-gr at i fi cati on?0o

Shewas impressed with his attitude, and was about to commend him, when something distracted her.

A strange feeling, sweeping through her head, confusing her senses. As if she had suddenly been transported
to another place. Instead of seeing Ashlaik she was looking down a swirling blue corridor of immeasurable
length, with s omebody who she coul dndt see, standing at the other
make out the words, but the desperation in the voice was clear.

She halted abruptly, shut her eyes and put a hand to her head. Then she swayed slight| as if she were about
to fall. Ashlaik saw it, and swiftly put a supporting arm around her shoulders.

AWhat 6s the matter?0 he asked with quick concern.

Finn didndt answer f censatonwas neceding assuddenlyas it had corheebuit left
her feeling disoriented and bewildered.

She opened her eyes and saw him gazing at her solicitouslyvhile she tried to collect her spinning thoughts .

Oh, well, it had probably made his day t hatightyeafdhe managed t
smiled back, evidently interpreting it as a sign she was recovering.
ASorry, o she said. AfiDondt know what happened there. Go |
AfPerhaps youdbre over tired, 0 he suggacmmmodationbldckMeangy be | 6d b

sort out a visitor suite for you? dHe used the opportunity to give her shoulders a squeeze

ATha&ank shdéPsaihdhps that would be a good idea. o She straic(
dropped his encircling arm.

AThis way, then, 0 he said, gfEesdluirnggbedtatckr troova?a t he Com

Ailom sure | will in a minute, o she said, rather distract
her head, but they were receding fast.

iGood. Bydhe @ag,| 1 eri thatisi doltakeityou and the Doctord | want a heprdbéde each?0
delicately.

Fi nn di dndstouraga higratherdlattering interest too brutally i he was much too nice a person for
that 7 but on the other hand,itwoul d be the kind thing to make .it plain he s

i Oh, no, we o6l | s h a robf amtel, Y. s hks kladidk atftaeae f el |

ifSo, youdreé?o H ebutl slkeetcould acauratelpextiamolate thearast of the fsentence

iOh, pno,,0 nwhe sai d q uwithdnkat thie wayahis thce ehangédeaghin He was positively
transparent, was Ashlaik. Someone else who should never play poker with the Doctor'i But i f thereds a su
separate bedroomsas wellasamanroom, t hat 6d be just the thing. The Doctor
to when heds wor khieddg | t lvanaydos whetydu might Glbprofessional conferences, things
like that. You know, so | can listen and nod in the right plac e s . Tell him when heds being b
thing. 0 She smiled at him, inviting him to enjoy the imagery.

AAh, right, 0 s adlgityAsalplp aderkd H ek i mfghea,is hd? ThelDbcior&n t

i Oh, Ceomsistently brilliant! | 6 m al ways | earning f r oTelyousomethingcri nn assur e

Ashlaiki no matter how many people youdve got i Soltdlaeeryr oo m, hedl |
lucky girl. Privileged. Woul dndét swap this assi gnm&hetflastedhim aaathgrtsmile.n g ! or
fiOh, o said Ashl ai k. ARi ght. o
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When the Doctor came to, he found he was lying sprawled face down on a hard surface With no idea where
he was, because it was pitch black. Without attempting yet to get up, he rolled onto his back and fished the sonic
screwdriver out of his breast pocket. He switched on its light and held it up above him like a torch; he lay there
for a few moments, gazingup at the blue glow as if he had nothing more pressing to do. Then hedecided it was
time to stand up and find out where he was.

Whi ch proved a more painful exper i eranum lethimkmowiheodd anti ci p:
uncertain terms how much it was still hurting.

fiow! T dor@!t Didg/ou haveto hit me quite that hard, whoever you are? 6 t h e indgmantlyo r
demanded aloud of his now absent assailant, rubbing the back of his head gingerly.

After a few moments he felt recovered enoughtoe x pl or e his surroundings. Whi ch di
they consisted only of a very small compartment of some kind, probably a storage area but at present quite empty
except for himself. He wondered for what purpose h e 6egn stored; nothing very encouraging, he felt sure.

He reached forward and tried the door handle. The door was locked, of course.

Equally of course, a few seconds | ater it wasnot.

The Doctor found himself in a long, empty corridor, its clean white walls illuminated by some fairly subdued
lighting, its ceiling covered by long lines of pipes. It had the unmistakable look of a basementlevel, the sort of
place youdd find the water purification pl addmiar,t he power g
equally gripping, facilities . He wasobviously somewhere under the Complex.

fiOnepart of the tour you missed out on, Ashlaik, o he mutte
pocket. He looked up and down the featureless corridor, trying to decide the most promising direction in which

to go.

A few minutes and a couple of flights of stairs later, he found himself emerging into one of the ground level
corridors of the Complex. Out si de, twilight was f al Ithingsdoracoudledf doursdsvi ousl y
mor e. Finn would probably be worrying about him by now; s

On the other hand, he wondered who, when they saw him, was going to beactively surprised.

AfHe6s been goowmeagamni amef @6l kpai d Finn anxiously. Shedéd just
their visitor suite, and was, as hed suspected, beginning to worry.

AHe doesndt strikewméchermoclhbaodd Asbdl ack, glahecing in th
apartment as i f hoping hedd get an invitation in. fiMaybe |
while heb6s investigating. Il 6m sure heodll be back to tell

il hope youodre right, o said Finn.

A number of people were traversing the corridor past them; it must have been the end of a workshift, and
there was a whole raft of staffreturning to their quarters. Ashlaik suddenly hailed one of the m.

AfHey, Ansal ar! o he said, waving.

The tall woman started slightly, and looked over at them as if surprised to be accosted She seemed a very
nervy type, Finn thought; always |l ooking jumpy. Still, shi
confer confidence in other areas of your life. She wondered if Ansalar had always been that way, or whether

something had happened to make her like that.

AHel | o, 06 said Ansal a¥Yopub6oemi hgdovbe tout hemhenfio She smil

iYes, itverginf&reative, and extremely thorough!d0 Fi nn sai d, for Ashl ai kds bene

iLook, Anse, you havenodt seen the Doctor a n pandde r e, have
companyqui te a while ago and we havenodét seen him since. 0

Ansalar shook her head, looking blank.

iHel | oamotstae d Whait © eYowap ®ok very worried about something.o
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They all looked round, to see Cyraenie approaching them.
fls something wrong?0  sehgeired with an upward tilt of her eyebrows, inviting an explanation.

AProbably nofilbésajdstFinmat we seem to have mislaid the I

AiOh, 06 said Cyraenie, slightly surprised. fiHow | ong ago?

AAbout a couple of hours or so,0 said Ashl aik. AiNobody

iStrange, 0 said Cyr ademine.as fal 6dhtthawve nputi cteiarbl e person, o
Finnds eyes as umipectedydound theyhveresharisgm thoment of spontaneous amusement.

i Oh, | am, 0 agr eed &ethoticed everyashere,ymed c e . Aivery.

fi Do c t onnWwas awareé that her face had lit up at the sight of the tall, brown-suited figure strolling
towards them. She was also aware that Ashlaik had caught her expression, and would have felt a bit sorry for him
if she hadndédt been so glad to see the Doctor.

fiHel | o, 60 he said cheerfully, but she noticed he was | ooki
me ? 0

Aiwell, we were rather wondering where youdd got to, 0 sai
expression. Ansalarwasve ar i ng a mysti fi ed | oo distinctly uiztical. Cyr aeni eb6s face

i Oh, vy oiuherke and there, round and about, coming and going, investigating and discovering, that sort
of thing,o6 said the Doctor. i Ma tallyn §o, speakireg invng capacity astre r e st i ng
Investigator, | think perhaps my assistantand | should conferfora bi t . Donét you, Finn? And

again tomorrow, Yy e snade hiswasthrdugh the grauf and broikem @ up, herding Finn into the
open doorway and swinging round to smile at the other threi

AWait a minute, Doctor! o6 Ashlai k protest egrihtaddediortioeu 6 | | nee
database. Soyouca open the door next ti me. Only Finn can operate
fi Oh, that 6s al |l right, o the Doctor assured hi m. fiDo it
stuff to talk about. Night night!o
And before any of them hadthec hance to say another word, hedéd bundled F
behind them.
Chapter 9
Catching Up

They found themselves in what was obviously the main living room of the apartment.
fil ateresting discoveries® 0 F i n n pasthenDpdtoebégn poking his nose casually through the
doorways of the other rooms, all of which seemed to open from theone they were now in.
i0oh, yes, 0 tabaadoring loigerptoratormandlthrowing himself full -length on his back onto
one of the two rather luxurious sofas which were among the furnishings. He put his hands behind his head and
subjected the ceiling to a raking examination. i For i nst ance, basemgnblevel. Ingredibly@dead. ovel y
Ultra clean! They could show one or two hospitals | know a thing or two about cleanliness. | mean, if you bother
to keep your basement that clean, speaks volumes about the
Al d&m sure it does, dtratharibéd gBi nhmel gueltyon, Aivbhat were you d
The Doctor took one of his hands from behind his head and rubbed the back ofit, reflectively.
i Comi ng andescapithg from the store cupboard somebody locked me inafter they clouted me, 6 h e
said.
Finn looked at him, startled.

AReall y?d she blurted.
AfReally, o the Doctor assured her. dAicCmante baenBlill Empee Imd he bul
sore,youknow! I real ly domedededitnck hihteyme qui t e s o Biaverkl, o He sou

| thought. Might tip them the wink about that, when | find out who they are. And why they did it. Although
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thatdés probably fairly obvious,i rtpunesittoi e i atko watb ohudw i Ghyr dn

got destroyed. That és what | was |l ooking at when they deci
termsforabit. Pr obably stuffed me in the cupboard towhkrdgkep me safe
actually. Letdbs go for 6secured6 instead. Yeah, secure. |

Finn regarded him unhappily.

fAh, buti! No t easy to get r i oeassufedh earm | ?fi0S ttihlel Dhoecrteo,r see ?0 He
screwdriver out and waggled it at her cheerily before tucking it back in his breast pocket.

iSo how |l ong ago did all this happen?0 Finn asked.

The Doctorodos face fell into more serious | ines, and he s\
elbows resting on his knees, hands clasped.

AAbout ten minutes aft dlrbeihterdstmdtd kngwavheretevetyane vgaa about then,i So i t
woul dnét it? Because so far, only a few people know about
Ashlaik, Cyraenie and Ansalar. | wonder where theyall were? Well, apart from Ashlaik, of course. We know
where he was. 0

AActually, we dondét, 0 said Fi nentrsly, thavis. yNpt verynlahg estéryog ht 1 'y r el |
left, he suddenly said there was something he needed to do.Vanished for about ten minutes or so. Then came
back, all &6éas you weredéo The corners of her mouth turned
with everyone el se. o0

fiDoes,rather,0 a g theeDmator thoughtfully. He tipped his clasped hands up to rest his chin on them, and
stared at Finn without really seei nme,dnckthmenpop meRlbwngtairsyy of t i me

So, no further forward on that one. 0
AfSomet hi nPoeltoe, 0 said Finn. AWhile he was wal king me r
ATry it on, did he?0 the Doctor suggested, with a grin.

Finn looked at him, slightly irritated.

ANo, nothiinlgi d irkeennérasd6re too gogdsed No, this was somet hi

i Wh ahten? 0 asked the Doctor, | 00 ki n ghereestimdtienrof it€imporéanca | | vy , havi

Al haidwelhli,s sort of dizzy spell. Al'l of a sudden | coul ¢
head. o

AAnd what odwas that?
AA Il ong corridor, all swirling shades of bl ue. Looked a:
far end, calling to me. And they were frightened. They were calling for help. Then, just like thati back to the

real world. Feltabitdizzy, at first. Then | was all right again.o Sh
like what happened during that tremor. You know, the one we felt just before we found Ghyron. I candét descr |
it, but T it felt 7 familiar , somehow. Asifi t was al l part of the same thing. oo

AfiMaybe it is,0 said the Doctor. ifWebve just got to work
me . And wh awithétsh igso iwnhgo loen pl anet . O

AEnough to keep us occupi e, & ogaitd eFinremx,t \Viitvle anifnaiitrets,s mil

fiOoh, atleastt © sai d t he Doctor, treating her to one of his wi d:¢

Finn slept soundly thatnight i so soundly that for a moment, when she fir:
remember where she was. Then recollectionoccurred. She lay still for a few moments, a smilg of which she was
not conscious, curving her mouth. She was on another world, in another time 7 with the Doctor! Again. Did one
ever get Dblas® about that, she vwbhefetamagidablitte thrit, everyttine 6t f e el p
she remembered what she was doing, and who she was doing it with.

Speaking of whom, where was he? She got out of bed, dressed quickly, and splashed some water on her face

to complete the waking process. Then she went out into the living area.
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A swift examination of the apart menAndeatacdndtidcalyhed t hat t h
hadndét | eft any sort of message. Onemicloe nerEwén hiefr me uh dadn
sleeping, maybe he was eating that was something he did do, from time to time! She certainly needed to, at the
moment. She decidel to go to the catering hall and pick up some breakfast, hoping that the Doctor would deduce
where shedd be.

A hope that was borne out when he suddenly deposited himself in the chairopposite.

AfAh, there you are, o0 she daimgcawmillye | iwWhatweehgogi e em)

batteries?o
iTaki ng tuhteforarmtheo Iook at the A strogeology labd0 he announc.ed ficwheielref utlhleyr e
was no-one else therg in the long dark watches of the night, 0 intomed sepulchrally, helping himself to some
of the food on her plate. She forebore to comment on that behaviour, but raised her eyebrows interrogatively.
AAnd did you |l earn anything new?bo
AYes, | did, 0 he s aatsmethngtbaniooked i andtastedihsimflautd d chunk of soda
bread with a sticky, savoury spread of some kind on it; it had a flavour that was unfamiliar to Finn, but it was
pleasant enough to her taste buds Or would have been, had itbeenhert ast e buds that were experi
fiSomet hi ng rather interesting. What do you know about astro
'Y o u 6 v with me anevery occasion when the subjec been discussed since we got hereFeel free to
think of that as the extent of my knowledge, o6 Finn invited
A RiIi ght ! otinfdeohelof theil corgputers and had a poke round, and one of the interesting things about
what they do under that subject heading here is to look not just at the physical geology of this planet and its
moons; they look at the overall spatial environmenti n whi ch they exist. o
iMeaning what? They |l ook at space asisweadtheBpacelthatmean, t he
surrounds it? 0
fAbsolutely, 6 agreed the Doctor, | ooking pl efasred tthheatt lsihreg wahsat
they look at it with round here is a system of small space telescopesnd other sensorsmounted on a network of
satellites. They call it the Panoptes Array. Whi ch shoul
i Shoiud Wt d ode ssmd tqPi £ikn m,g u [Or, &t &ast, i csuadhe moient? For someno doubt
very mysteriousr eason?o

fiNo doubt! Andwhend 6 y ou siutp psotsoepped wor ki ng?o The Doctor | ooked
eyes.

fiPlease, pleass dondt itletméguese, 0 sai d Finn drily. fibyasyt after Ghy
strange chance? 0

APretty wel | iwlmasthsecandsynfactot etsh e Do c t omth agenardus elementdof
hyperbole, helping himself to another of her chunks of bread and inelegantly sucking a stray smear of spread off
the tip of hisindex finger. A And guess what ? No indication of when the ref
in hand, as far as | could see. Cyraenieds been putting i
seems to be able to give her a clear reasonastowhyhe systemdés not already back onlin

iSo whoods responsible for that?o

AiHar d itexcem that it seems all such requestshavetobec hannel | ed through the Admini
for financi al monitoring and ayng Hsonndcetdaokagan, 06 sai d the Doct

Finn looked at him sharply, ignoring his swift acquisition of her last remaining bread portion.
AYou t7d nk

il t hialmdstcértaidysnota pr obl em with the accounts, ohiswoiddl t he Doc
muffled by dint of his mouth being suddenly full . AAnyway, |l etés go and find Cyraeni
lab by now.0 He swall owed theifhedl ymaoutbfebhkfaBF?0

fiNo, 0 s delibératélyi. nYoufinished my breakfast,incaseyay hadndto noti ced!
The Doctor grinned, and leapt out of his chair.
fiWhat 6 s keepid giegganded. Atlofiseyn! 20
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Chapter1 0
The Credibility of Coincidence

When they entered the Astrogeology lab they found Ansalar and Cyraenie in conversation with a man they
di dn ot Orkseangthem Cyraenie broke off the conversation, her face lighting up.
AiDoctor ! Finn! The Professoros back! o0 she announced haj
iProfessor One Five Th steppingfoaviarg and holdingoat hishand.h e man,
As he and the Doctorgreeted each other, Finn decidledh e had one of the most attractiv
heard; a beautifully modulated tenor. He looked to be in his middle fifties , with the merest hint of grey in his
brunet hair; his long, clean shaven face was dominated by a pair of keen, dark eyes, and he had an understated,
pleasant manner, calm and dry, that she soon realized was the front for an incisive and formidable intellect.
He turned to her with a charmin g smile, and shook her hand, too.

i DocitFenn Thornton7i t 6s a pl easure to meet you both, o he said.
you. I dm very rgsbheetdthysubeerhble bt uat i NatawordWdsted;cleearan | do |
and to the point. Finn glanced at the Doctor and could tel
she had.

fAny i dea what Ghyron was working on?0 asked the Doctor,

AOnly in the most gener al edbacknagainst the desi behirddhimand folged is. He | e
arms. ilom afraid | canét give you any detail at all. Wh a't
environment on the geology of planets generallyi and, of course, on Felindreandits moons speci fically.

farly sur e, though he di dnot explaiyg the possibility of & tte-up/tq thetqimkes. Bhtéd mw a s
afraid | have no idea what his findingswere. Cy r aeni e tells me hedéd put a preliminart
Admi ni stratoroés office. | tried to get hol d of it but it
The Doctor looked sceptical.
iHas it, now, 0 he muttered. L a r yaa astrong fedtirg thatheerwase y e br ow a't
absolutely in tune with the Doctor on this one.
iYesWhich is unfortunate, of cour se, boappearsicbethewnly h everyth
copy in existence, 0 hdvieg listdnedeorCyraedie,idseems tpme thatfeveryttling that could
have happened, has, indeed, happened. Ghyron unexpectedly dies. His report is lost, and his computer is
unaccountably destroyed; moreover, the backup system mysteriously fails to perform . And the PanoptesArray

(@}
[%2])
Q

also inexplicably malfunctions. Al I  wi t hin the space of a few days. It
because the condition does, but the statistical likelihood of all these events occurring virtually concurrently seems
to me to be beyond all reasonable limits of probability or credi bi |l i ty. o
His face suddenly creased into what could only be described as a griri a very attractive one, with
surprisingly impish overtones, despite the implications of his verdict .
il n ot hédsowmet 85 n Hideyes twmkled to match his unexpected descent into colloquialism.
The Doctor grinned back.
AiProfessor, youdre a man after my own heart! o he decl ar e
Cyraenie, like Ansalar, was looking incredulous.
AProfessor! o sGoemenxielSar még. yibDdDouserlyt hi nk t hereds some so
she groped for an appropriate wordi is ome gl@gbi af§ on?o0
AApplying logic to the data appear ayatagreetaakndy. it t he only
i Bubutwhy? What on earth could Ghyron hako® Whitlsvenbtoadorale d t hat v
those things?0
iSomeondeswhow what Ghyron discovered, o said the Doctor.
in no-one else finding out what it was. Which is, of course,exactly what we need to do. Before whoever it is

decides they need to take furtheractioné o
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In the uncomf ortable pause that followed this observation, there was a quiet knock on the door and it opened
to admit Ashlaik.

AOoh, hell o, Professor Laryan! oo he said cheerfully. ANiI c
| just ought to check whetherth e Doct or and Finn needed me to do anythingébo
them all more carefully, suddenly picking up on the atmosphere.

AfiYou know, 1 61 1 have to stop coming to this |l ab, o0 he sai
somet hing weirdébés just happened. Hope itdés not me! o

iOof course not, Ash! o saidwAhbalaheqgBirokkgsordstbeepuagr
Doctor that therebds something st r an gieshghesitategover the They thinl
melodramaticword i ipl ot goi ng on. That someonebds behind it all.o

fiReally, Professor ?gastenisheed Ashl ai k

Al nescapable conclusion, |l 6m afraid, 0 agreed Laryan.

Ashlaik looked lost for words.

i Oh. l[¢vthdre agythinglcandofor you, Doct or ? 0 oreefthefewtdings abautithei ng on
situation that still seemed to bear some relation to normality.

ANot at the moment, thanks, Ashlaik, o0 said the Doctor. I

ARi ght. iTakayll Ig&ltl on, then, 6 said Ashlaik,nstill sound
unconvincing smile, and went out again.

ARi ght! And so will welod said the Doctor, sudfdienly spril
l ook at Finn. AfiLetds go and visit the Administrator again

ABest of | uck, 0ThesDRoctal grihnedayhemagalnt i | vy .

As soon as the door had swung to behind the Doctor and Finn, Ansalar saiddiffidently , i Pr osorey¢os or

be so mundanei with all this going on, | mean i but one of the seismographs is acting up a bit. The one covering
Segment North Green Four. Shouldilget one of the techs in to |l ook it over?o
i Mmm, better hadnd adirDmendtLavant to miss anything excitin

added, as she got up to leave. She gave him one of her nervous little smiles, and left the laboratory.

Al o6l l just pop out for a momenitd €yoaenfeyoufidowétgmi nad, I
and | 6ve |l eft my analgesics in my room. o0 She | ooked at hi
daysil feel as if 1 6dm foundering a bit, someti mes. And Ghyr

He saw the pain in her eyes, and nodded.

AOf course, o0 he said comfortably. Aoff you trot. But b
of catching up to do. o

il wi | I, 0 s hllopwed Ansalasoetd , and

Professor Laryan relaxed back against the desk le was leaning on, and looked quizzically around the
suddenly empty laboratory.

iDema, © he mur mur ed, a humorous twinkI|l e i-anethérestoseey e despit

it ifiWas it something | saidé?o

Once again, the communicator wasbeing activated.

=13

What do you want?0 demanded the voice at the other end,

=13

Heds getting closer! And Laryan agrees with him. They
AThen we must do somet hPhgytboWheidepésd hehmevaba® o .

AOn his way t o ithteéd sAd miork i @$gfeifpamer t GOy r on 0

fil s h e édthér voicg paesed toconsider, then spoke decisively. fAitTthien i s what youbére goi

doil i sten carefullyébo
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Four Five Nine Helenay was not someoneFi nn felt she could really take to, th
her finger on the reason. Helenay was obviously a very efficient personal assistant, thorough and meticulous, and
extremely dedicated; there was just something on what Finn chosetocalhe &éhumandé | evel that seer
and because of it, she wasi easy to warm to.

However, Finn was inclined to think that her 7 well, angerdi dné6t seem t dderangaraverg a wor d
the di sappearance of Gh yhere was a convieging mix of indégisatiog ,eemhbarrassment
and outraged pride evident in her manner over the idea that something for which she was responsiblein her
professional capacity could in any way have been mislaid.

The Doctor, it seemed, thoughts o t oo, from the way he caught Finnbés eye :
Hel enayds expostulations.

il really dondét understand it, o0 she was compverdbadni ng. il
adocument go missing! | know it was locked intot h at c &dhe poiated@t a very solid-looking metal four -
drawer cabineti fand only | and t he Adinboth of which ard agccountedefarleAnckley s t o it

know it was filed there, because | did it myself! And the cabinet was still locked, when | went to retrieve it for
Professor Laryan! s hButcointc |wadsendg t itnhdd rgenlaon tprtofpund pessonalf shedd b

insult.

AfReall y?06 said the Doctor, and something in hihad tone mad
just said had caught his attention. AThereds no way someol
returned it, without your knowing??o

AfCertainly not!o denied Helenay.
, P urThen hgbrokeio intb avide smildhi | e he c

i Ah, wel | , never mind, 0 he said c hWheartfeuvlelryd. s hiidl gopme nseudr et oi |

AiHMMmM, ¢ mur mured the Doctor

absolutely certaiom itds not your fault

She looked slightly mollified, and was about to reply, when Zarramin came into the office. Instantly she was
once again the epitome of brisk efficiency.

ifGood morning, Administrator, o she greeted him.

iGood morning, Hel enay, 06 he returned. fiGood morning, Do«
investigations going?0

iOh, yoilum&knionmg progress, 0 said t hiebutbrno felosure, deliberateiunc har act e
vagueness. iwe were just trying to find out Thebreheds become
submitted here just before he disappeared.0

AProfessor Laryanés back, aldedbytvay offuehertesplataton.see it , 0 Hel en:

inwel |, | gave it to you, 0 said Zarramin, as i f t hat sett |

AfAnd Hel enay stored it away di&€xuwr@lty thadgriedd tshenebhowt vra
|l ocked cabinet. To whi ch, | under st and, fixedolny Zyao u aan ch 6she |
ASo it | ook smustkaveimbnagedtmstealmre of the keys and make away withte report, without

your knowing aboutit, 0 h e wirdyn aftera couple of seconds.

Al most i mper c e p badpldnguagerélaxedr as imsomedkind of crisis had been averted

AfCan we find out who?d he asked.

AOh, wedl |l f i ndiblepAdminisvdtoo ® d onéspworry about fnlatiead sai d t h
serious as if he was making a vow

ForasplitsecondZ ar r a mi mwds $otalfy ancebile. Then he smiled.

il wel come t hDoctar,eda shsafirdaanicad. | k @&esl pn anyenewudpvdlopments, | trust?
Oh'i you have been given communicator units, | presume? 0

i No, we havenot , actually, o said the Doctor. Hel enay i m

i Do ct ogosornyl @hat a thoughtless oversight'do s he apol oigplzeeads e tfigddkee et hese. 0
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She dived into one of her desk drawers and placed two objects on the desktop. They were small circular
palm-sized devices that had an inner circle of fine wire mesh with a plain metal surround in which vario us
buttons were inset.
ilf you pr es si Helanaydenwnstated hfetr et g i v e dineyoane heee indhis office t
at al | Shegulkysran dthrough the rest of the controls, explaining how they could contact each other, or
use the devices to access the database of all staff contacts.
ifGood! Great! T h a nflpp ipgchis communiaatodin td theeair d@ catthing it again
deftly before shoving it into his pocket, and tossing Finn hers. ARIi ght! We,0 Itlh ébre. }on our wa

He and Finn had just reached the door when Zarramin suddenly spoke.

i Oh, Doctor é Wait a moment. |l 6ve had a thought. o

The Doctor turned and met his eyes.

il dve just remembered something, o Zarramiuptowent on. A
Observatory One for a few hours. It may mean nothing, ofcoursei t ot al | 'y unr el at ed bitb what és
occurs to me that it might just be worth your taking the trip up there to look around. Who knows? Perhaps he
left some sort of clue there. You might spot something that would be meaningless to the rest of us. What do you
think?o

The Doctor considered.

AwWell, we dondét want to | eave any .fghasks Hwdewesgbaboue unt ur ne
getting there?bo

il tm&lain a trip on the airbridge, o6 said Zarramin. Al f mem
in about half an hour or so. Il sné6t that right, Hel enay?0

AQuite right, Administr atidm, d-sehme pc am fniurkeserd thepDbaidrhd t Imya.
and Miss Thornton are on it.o

AThank you, HelenaBffd cs@®ind ZAasr rmd wiarys. 0

A remark that brought a small, tight smile of appreciation momentarily to her lips.

AThank you, Admi ni strator, 0 she said, pri mly.

Chapter1 1
Runaway Train

It took about twenty -five minutes to traverse the airbridge up to Observatory One, but, as the Doctor pointed
out, it was uphill most of the way. The train travelled at a fairly relaxed pace, allowing them, as the only

passengers on this articular trip, some spectactular views of the multi-hued tree canopy on the way. Apart from

the moment when the Doctor pointed downwards, and she real|
discoveredGhyr onds body, Finn thought sheibwelnle,veonentlhgtedwas tal
by a steam engine, anyhow, whichforheral ways added that extr a radlpavaedi al el ement

whenever it could be experienced.
Their exploration of the Observatory itself, however, was far less successful. Despite the apparent
willingness of the staff there to help them in any way they could, no-one was able to tellthem anything useful,
andGhyron didndédt seem t o hdoflsworkthere. anyt hi ng, any recor
AoOh, well, Zarwamim wadsrwyi, @ghtsai d the Doctor, ,&isn he saunt
alongside him. fi Bofat zermi Wit erms of a result. o

The train driver, standing beside his cab door, saw them coming, and waved to them.

ALooks | ike youdll be the opabwellt wd ema s ehreg eorbss ea v etdh ec hveaey
to be my day for it!o
AfSoiygur day for what?0 Finn enquired politely.
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ARuns with hardly an yniverea beamedfraiharpattly hhanofanediumthdigat and an
apparently permanent smil e. AiHad to run a special up here
doubled my passenger | oad at one fell swoop, you havel! o H

AA hundred per cent i mprovement, then!o she said with a

ARi ght, well, youdbdd better get yourselves one hundred pe:
zero! 0o hefAndmp&set emd. | at e! We donoét |l eave in one minute, on
know! o He winked again.

fil ikethatman, 06 observed the Doctor wi t Hastafghe theessmadll caariageshe c | i mb e

that constituted the entire t rain.
iHes defiai stelbmpdgotasp of percentages, o Finn said with a
iSomeone el se you shouldnoét play poker with, then, o the |
the window on the other side.
i Tehr edre probably quhattle sa ,l0ootwasf Fpodmvptkse renp oi nder
There was a short pause. Then the Doctor looked toward the front of the carriage, as if havas trying to see
through the metal work to the driverds cab.

il thosghd Wwe were | eaving in one minute, 0 he observed,
AiHe did, o6 Finn confirmed.

AwWell, we havenot. Wonder why not?0

AfDoes it matter?0

AProbably not. He just 0truck me as the punctual sort

They were both taken by surprise as the train suddenly jerked, making them stumble. Then it began to move.
As they had been expecting. But, somehow, it was obvious something was wrong.
The Doctor sprang to the other window, Finn close behind him. They were just in time to see a figure
stretched out at the side of the track. With another figure, face hidden by a hood, running away. Both were
almost instantly out of their sight as the train began to pick up speed.
i Do citomthegroundi t hat was the driver!o Finn exclai med, al ar me
AfYes, it was!o the Doctor agreed vehemently. He peered
at the front of the train. The door of it was open i as should not havebeen the case. And as the train went round
a fairly tight curve of the track, he could see enough of the interior to make it clear that there was no-one in the
cab.
No-one was driving the train.
A Runaway tyala,takihgdo his beels and healing for the door through to the next carriage; Finn
followed him. He seized the handle, but the door refused to open. Hepromptly whipped his sonic screwdriver
out, but for once it had no effect.
AfDeadl ocked! 0 he excl ai me#inndothgdioloy . byHehi & & eliithtevagsé ki pasatr d
the same. Hegrowled with frustration.
He glanced back at Finn; she was staring at him with wide, alarmed eyes.
The train was picking up even more speed; Finn could feel its motion becoming gradually more unsteady.
The descent down t thatstéep, but teeprenonghl wafs nnbott hi ng st opped t hem,
starring in a pretty spectacular crash before long.
Unless the Doctor could do something. Which he was obviously planning, because hdil gone to the nearest
window and was looking at it carefully. Then he looked around, saw a small metal cylinder affixed to the wall
next to the door, and wrested it from its clamps.
AWhat are you going to do?0grablihe headsektefdhe neprestseaitoggeadyut a han
herself as the train began to sway even more violently.
AThi nk | fancy a ride on the top deck, o0 he said, and seni
shower of shattered glass. He briefly turneda gl eami ng smil e on Fi nn. iLots of | ove

world of good! o
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Finn stilled her instinctive protest; if he didndt do wh:
dead anyway. But she somehow felt impelled to say something So she contented herself with the comment,
AMind you dondét cut ySoupenfluwes|ahd pmbablytatbiestupid lyut somehow & made her
feel better to say it.

The Doctor was already kicking at the remaining shards of glass to clear tem away. He suddenly twisted
like an eel, and the next moment he was outside, his feet resting on the sill of the window, his hands, now out of
sight, evidently clinging onto some handhold above. He crouched just long enough to flash her areassuring
smile. Then he pulled himself up, his daps dangling at the end of his long legs for a fraction of a second before
he was entirely gone from view.

Finn ran to the window and looked up, but already there was nothing of him to be seen.

Somewhere up there, perched perilously on the roof of a train hurtling down the mountainside out of control,
already shaking violently because of its own speed, the Doctor was inching his way forward to get to the driverless
cab. To try to save both their lives, in the little time there was left.

And there was nothing she could do.

Except é

She realized therewas something she couldi and should i be doing. She thrust her hand deep into her
pocket and pulled out the communicator unit s he 6 d b e e n , gtabling at the kauttoh tha¢ would put
her straight through to Helenay.

fiFour Fi ve Ni ne théffaniiliarmpanytonés. ¢ a me

AHel enay! 0 Fi nn \Wealsvpee dg outr gaénn tellnyes tgesfinéc!yo

The train was picking up more speed as the irexorable pull of gravity drew it ever faster down the
mountainside.
Clamped to the roof like a limpet, the Doctor squinted against the increasing air pressure that was trying to
force his eyes to close. Already the carriages under him were travelling withsuchsped t hat he darendt ri
to walk along the roofs i the violence of the swaying movement when the train traversed curves in the track could
easily see him sharing Ghyronés mortuary slab, or el se stal
hurry to doé
So, instead, hewas trying to pull himself along the top of the roof, with a style of motion not unlike that of a
caterpillar, forced on him by the design of the train; there seemed to be something like solar photovoltaic panels
lining the r oof, which presumably powered it, but they were completely smooth, so the only places he could get a
grip were on the edges of each panel, and the real problem was that the were about two feet longer than he was,
even with his arms and legs extendedat full stretch. So he had to crouch on the edge obne panel and launch
himself forward with a sort of diving motion to make sure his fingers gripped the far edge of the next , draw his
feet up under him, and re-launch for the next one.
Which, although an ungainly way to make progress, was workingreasonably well. The most dangerous
manoeuvres were having to launch himself across the gaps between the carriages, but, all things considered,
progress was good.
Up to the point where the train swooped downtowar d t he curve bel ow which theyodd f«
The Doctor, who had understandably not been taking time to appreciate the route or the scenery, realized
too late that the already violently swaying surface beneath him was suddenly leaning wildly to the right. His
fingers slid sideways along the edge of the panel, as his body weight added its own momentum to the motion
of the train, trying to throw him away from it.
Desperately, he let go with his left hand and grabbed for a handholdfurther up toward the middle of the roof.
The metal edges were cutting painfully into his fingers, but he ignored them 1 better that pain than the

alternative on of fpeimselfswBalibhg sidesvays.oul dndt st o
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From the waist downwards his body parted company with the carriage roof, his feet hanging over the edge
and flailing around, trying to find a foothold, while he clung frantically to the edge, his fingers once again sliding
with increasing speed.

He wasno6t going to be able to hold oné

Chapter 1 2
Taking a Cab

Then the train swung violently over to the left, the momentum enabling him to swing his body fully back
onto the roof.
He lay there panting for a few moments, regrouping. His watering eyes, fighting to see against the wind
created byspteheed ,t rmaaidned sout t hat for the next mile or so the
Then, still ignoring the pain of his lacerated fingers, he resumed his progress. He was running out of time.
After what seemed like an age, he was on the roof abovéhe cab. Cautiously, his hair being flattened against
his skull by the pressure of the wind, he | eahmadveover the
the open cab doorway.
Now all he had to do was swing himself down off the roof and into the cab. At what felt like a hundred miles
an hour. With virtually nothing to give him the necessary purchase. And with the train running out of airbridge

inaneverdecr easing number of mil es. Whi | e mahatwoupdbes ur e heodd coc
created by the wind resistance, or heo6d be O6bl ownd backwar
Simple!
So he did it.

With the smooth motion of a professional acrobat, his tall, slim body curved through the air and into the cab.

Helandedinan unti dy heap, painfully impacting with the driveil
only a split second to leap to his feet and start scanning the settings of the controls. The readings were not good
newsi whoever had sabotaged them had donea fairly comprehensive job.

He threw a wild glance through the windscreen. The depot at the end of the airbridge was already in sight, in
the far distanceé

He looked at the controls again, and dived into his pocket for the sonic screwdriver. If he could bypass the
routing of the braking system, by rewriting the connection here, and diverting the power from thereé !

ACome onon! occohmee exhordwdl. hilmlsehd da@&aildndét do itthiwa sinnd tt hjeu snte x
going to be himself and Finn who died i it would be everyone in the depot and its immediate environs. At this
speed, the crash would be utterly spectaculari and comprehensively deadly.

He didndét even have time to reward himself with a triumpt
A green light on the control panel flashed; almost before his optic nerve had registered that, he was already
stamping on the manual brake backup pedal on the floor of the cab.

I't wasndét having any effect! Was ite?

Yes! Yes, it was!

But would it be enough? Would the accumulated momentum of the train be slowed in time? The depot was
speeding toward hi mé! The br@Egknagogyi awole bend ofpmsinagapy eal i ng | i |
come to thaté

The Doctor shut his eyes and gritted his teeth, pointlessly seizing the control wheel in front of him in a white -
knuckled grip.

But the brakes were, finally, despite their ear-splitting protests , working. The train was slowing.
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Unfortunately not quite soon enough to prevent it hitting the buffers, demolishing them as its own
momentum carried it forward, off the end of the track, to plough onwards, with increasing sluggishness,
toward the far wall of the depot.

Until at last, with a contact as delicate as the touch of a drifting snowflake, the nose of the cab came to
rest against that wall.

The Doctor slowly unclosed his eyelids andstared with wide, wild eyes at the metal surface mere inches
away, still gripping the control wheel with chalk-pale knuckles, while his hearts slowed to a more normal rate.
Cautiously, he let out a long breath, and swallowed. Then he remembered the deadlocks, and pressed the
control that would release themi and Finn.

He then took a few moments to look again at the way the controls had been sabotaged, and nodded to
himself. Someone had definitely done this deliberately.

Someone whq apparently, wanted both him and Finn dead...

A movement in his peripheral vision made him look down, out of the still open cab door. Someone was
standing there, on the newly formed heap of earth, rock and broken platform pushed up into a sort of bow wave
by the weight of the train.

Finn. Looking up at him, her face pale, but, in spite of it, with a lively twinkle in her eyes.

Putting on the whine of a bored child, she demanded, AAT

Which got her a huge, facesplitting grin by way of reply. The Doctor leaped out of the cab and grabbed her
by the shoulders.

AYad | right?0 he demanded.

il feel drunk, 0 Finn told him.
The Doctor looked puzzled in the extreme.

1

Drunk?0 he repeated, incredulously.

-

iYealhi ke a glass of water. o F i ninikesardirefect sadl toldghura s mi | e .
n

Dent . o

fAlyes, 0 said the Doctor, H iPwdigloas paty anima'aH e dmdy the FreficR,or d Pr ef e
let me tell you! A man of great practical wisdom. And manywell-used t owel s. 0 He | ooked Finn
you really are al/l right?o

AForpetthegoses of this conversation, |l etds say that | am, ¢

The Doctor smiled. Then he became aware of something else, and he looked around.
AHang on, 0 he said. AWhere is everyone? The place i s el
Finn put a hand in her pocket, pulled out her communicator unit, and waggled it at him.
AfHel enay really is efficient, 0 she remarked.
The Doctor beamed at her.
AOh, brilliant! Youdr e Shyuigbt Evergonetcleareg outof treway! 6 Wel | done!
iBet t hmealoirreg ad Ibeeline for us now, though, o Finn remarKkeEe
Which was confirmed the very next instant, as a number of people suddenly erupted through a doorway into

the depot and teemed towards them. The Doctor saw Laryan and Ashlaik amongst all the others; theformer

contenting himself with a quirk of one eyebrow as their eyes met, the latter, his face very nearlyasash-coloured

ashis name implied, making straight for Finn.

AAre you al/l right ?0 he demanded anxiously.
iWe both are, t hankhsedderst toecers. Ashtiik flicked & gladce &t the Doctor.
ASoifitydid mean to include you in that, Doctor, o he apol o

The Doctor waved it away with a casual gesture. His eyes were roaming over the people grouping around
them; some of them must be depot staff, some of them probably security, and possibly one or two medical staff.
However, now they were parting to make way for the Planetary Administrator as he, too, came to investigate
events.

AiDoct or lunharMedy 6 I et r exdaim@din tdnes of great solicitude.
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o
—

ifYes, thanks, o0 agreed the Doctor cheerfully. fiDi dn g e
butat | east we survived. o

AThanks be for that! o said Zarr ami nolofize deegyrfdar sugh.a iWhat ca
horrendous elkpptarinvestigatienieam ihtd action immediately! Such a malfunction 1 such a
terrible accident! i must never be allowed to happen again. o

il suppose you could call ri.t afiBnual fiunccteirana,ionlsyaiwda stnhdet [aon

added flatly. His eyesbriefy me t L a r yich ménsentariwwidened before he nodded at the Doctor, slowly.

iwhat do you mean?0 Zarramin responded, withian el ement

i Oh, yes, | do, 0 the Doctor contradicted him. He | ooked
and silenced by the implications of hiswords. He | ooked back at Zarramin. ABut then
tell you that, |l 6dm sure. o

Al can hardly believe fihis, 0 Zarramin protested. il

Laryand6s dry, calm tones cut across him.

AForgive me, Administrator, tHaken udtuphiadkaitmias mitghltatfemni ar
sure both the Doctor and Miss Thornton would |Iike some tim
that so, Miss Thornton?o He | ooked at her, feeding her thi

Al must admit, tiwgubddwétfmrnd mbment or two, 0 she admit:

hotdrink, perhaps?9
Zarramin collected himself together.

AOf course! o he agreed. Awhat am | thinking of? Laryan,
AWith pl easuroe,, 0OAdsnaiindi sLtarraytan cal mly, above the rising mu
nows preading among the rest of the group. APl ease, follow

MissThornt on?o

i Of cour se, Professor, o said Ashl ai k.

As they made their way out of the depot, the remainder of the group now spreading out to survey the
damage, Laryan mur mu rAndthemastatistical ikelihondsbeydnd alllreasonatiie limits of
probabilty or credi bility?0o

AOh, yes! o6 the Doctor agreed.

He glanced over his shoulder. The only person not staring at the wrecked train was Zarramin. Instead,
he was watching the four of them as they walked away, his face inscrutable.

The Doctor looked forward again, and nodded to himself, once.

Chapter1 3

Correlations  and Quakes

Claiming the need for rest, the Doctor had finally convinced Ashlaik to leave their suite, escorted by Laryan,
who had indicated with the merest hint of raised eyebrow t|
APhew! o Finn puffed, pliDmging dowreldn ytohue osnefea.l 6d never
fairground rides? More convinced than ever, now! 0
AVery revealing, though, o6 said the Doctor thoughtfully.
AHow déyou mean?o0

il 6m t hinki ng aatheaepbt, wahrmd walso wasndt . o
Finn stared at him, momentarily puzzled. Then her face cleared.

i Oh! Ydutmeaeninitely wasnét Ayl giok! doBvdhcahbeadoodt dwsbdn
possibly have been the person up at the Observatory!o
fi Y & gut then, | knewthataready, 06 said the Doctor, rather absently.

Now Finn was really perplexed.
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AHow?0 she demanded.

fiBecause whoever sabotaged the train was a woman, 0 annou
AHow do you know? Al l |l saw was someone in a hood. o
AThe running aotctom, 0 didMed tamel vomen are built di fferent

Woman,def i nitely.o

AfSo that narrows the field of suspects down to about hal:

iltds progress! o said the Dbodtéor Angl iodhttlhye iprdipdra wtl k.no
whodbve been most closely involved in whatés been going on,
Whereaséo He |l ooked at her significantly.

AWhereas, 0 she finished sIneswlly,r ~ABaybeeseiadugy thinkywaaea@i e and A
of them?0

iOor more than one of them, 0 p anyondoetdfthe frameit Notevedtbec t or . iDo

men. Any two of the six could be in cahoots. And, of course, there might be someoneslsewe dondt even know
about yet! o He s unckeklbingintheoprmumdumed at her
fi Oh, yvuwwhad rceomf ort to me, 0 Finn told him, whi ch got her an
AWell ,d she announced, geitoting to her feet, Al d&dm going t
She broke off abruptly; her eyes closed, and her hands went to her temples. She swayed slightly. Alarmed,
the Doctor leaped forward and put his hands on her shoulders to steady her.
AWhat is it?06 he demanded.
iltés happening again, 0 sheceorsraiiddar édfiThat feelingé The DI
The Doctor closed his own eyes. Ye$ now he was getting it, too. In his head, the desperate voice calling
from the other end of the swirling blue corridor, but only veryf ai nt |l y . He moved his hands up
away from her temples, replacing her fingers with his own. Realizingwhathewas doi ng, she didndét re
They stayed locked together for another minute or so. Thenthe sensation began to fade until it was gone

again. The Doctor dropped his hands, and they looked at each ther.

fint er estremmatkedo h&8For some reason, youbre getting the signe
lam. 0

ABut why would that be? -hana finrom you.gVehyy woulg | have bettepraception s econd
than you?0 elDfespshe threole into a grin. AHar k at me! Ma k e s

AMust be because youdbve got a closer connection with wha:
iComei loet 6s get to the Astrogeology | ab. o

AWhy, aulddefhn?a

iRemember how youdbre not going to play poker with me? H

fiDonotilk nnnew er do it,o0 Finn retorted.

AAww! Pity. Because | was going to bet you that thereod:

Let 0sse ggloo

AfYes, 0 sai d P hinelyes Bickesimg mbnaentarily over to the bank of seismographs. iYes,
theje&d been another one. In Segment South Amber Nine. H
with interest.

ASorry, But iow hessts odqg you mean by a ésegment 6?0 Finn asked.

AOh, itds how we categori ze t hebutipdonhiecompbtgr armla®a, 0 sai d La
holographic representation of Felindre appeared in the air above his desk.

But not as it would appear if, for instance, you were approaching it from space, with its continents and seas

and atmosphere. This was a stylized sphere, with a central line around its equator, and thin lines of what Finn
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presumed were the equivalent of latitude and longitude on Earth; however, the lines were more distantly spaced
on this globe, and each segment, reaching from pole to pole, was a different colour.
Laryan pointed to a spoton the southern half of the sphere, in a section oftheamberc ol our ed segment he
referred to.
ifiHere, ©o he said. fiTohi s i s South Amber Nine.
ifiAnd where are we in relation to that?0 the Doctor asked
nose as soon as the holograph had been displayed. Laryan indicated a point on the other sie of the planet, in the
northern half, in a n ivory-coloured segment.
iNorCtetamThr ee, 0 he said. AThis is us. oo
AJust about as far away from here as itds possible to be
Laryan regarded him with interest .
AA question | wouldndt mind havingidposwkned, t mgsebti, bebr
another earthquake?o
AFinn told me, 0 said the Doctor, rather mischievously, |
andgr i nni ng suden dénisternafios as the Professor turned his enquiring gaze on her. She briefly
arched her eyebrows at him, as if asking him whether she should explain, and, seeing his brief nod, relaxed a
little.
AThis is going to soundarifrdal hegsoddntPyofedéBat, &6 phemi se
AFinn, it would never occur to me to doubt anything you
asasensible and on the whole quite logical person, whom | would regard as a credible witness under any
circumstances. So, pleasé doyour besttoa st o n i sHe treated hér to one of his charming smiles.
Finn blushed, but there was no doubting that what he had expressed as @ompliment of the highest water
was, to Laryan, neither more nor less than a statement of an obvioustruth. So she swallowed,trying to regain

her composure, then began.

inwel |, si nciewenel ,gorto, htershe ainoe thehebdt afterfi rsaethingthatt e
happened; 1611 tell yiowheab autq utatkaetd si rh agp preamergt, I get a sor
And | see something. I'n my head. o

She hesitated, but Laryan gave her an encouraging nod.

i Go oen,sobaihd. iwhat is it that you see, and feel ?0

Finn was about to answer him, when they were interrupted by someone entering the lab.
It was Cyraenie.
Her face lit up when she saw them.

iDoctor ! Finn! I heard about what happened. Are you al

Finnst ared at her , thinking about the Doctorodés earlier sta
Cyraenieds delight and concern were both quite genuine. S|
her with an expression that indi cated to her he thought the same.

iHel | o, Cyraenie, 0 he said cheerfully. AfYes, fine, al | |
done. Where were you, that you missed all the excitement ?

AOh, wedve godutosthbeperimestemsof sthe permitted area here, 0 sai (
sent me out to check them earlier, after you left. I only got back a few minutes ago.
what happened! Areyousurey ouér e all right? eaddbveé been scared half to

il was nearly scared all the way clinbed bverthe casiage noaddscandh e r . il
got into the c d&dvingthiseonvesationchmodvt! 0b e

Cyraenie shuddered, then looked at the Doctor with something closetoawe, as the i mplications

brief description sank in.
ADid you really do that?o0
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iOh, pseaowpilneg | do for free, 0 t hsavil) cates acesericislypunitivej me d . i My
though. Talking of which i you were about to explaintothe Pr of essor how you know when t h
going on. o

Cyraenie turned startled eyes on Finn. Finn, in turn, was looking at the Doctor, and so was Laryani and he
was evidently thinking the same as her. Why had the Doctor mentioned planet-saving, and what bearing did
what she was saying have on that?

AFinn here seems to have some way ofi asneynwshienrge whne nt haen pelaarn
Laryan said to Cyraenie, as calmly as i f odescibawhaté commonpl
feels like.o

Finn coughed nervously, and tried to pick up the interrupted thread of her thoughts.

ltds not a very nice sensation, 0 she said. Al start to
evenifmyeyesareo p e n. ltdéds as i f mpomuchannwhas$ 6sohappeenngaiasi de
divert the part of it that usually interprets what | see 10

iThe visual cortex. In the occipital |l obe, o the Doctor |

ARi ght é awWell sewhis a sort of corridor, stretching out i
the other end therebs somebody calling out. I dondt know |
But theydre afr ai addespdrabee And thenit tadeyawayraad everything goes back to
nor mal . o

AAnd iithanagstosn, 6 said the Doctor, interrupting himself as
seismographs and studied the onethat recorded the most recent one. Then he returned to his original place.

AfYes, 06 he went on, Aiit asts almost exactly as |l ong as the
happening again until it stopped, | reckoned two minutes and thirteen seconds. According to your seismograph
sheet overtherei t wo mi nutes and twelve seconds. 0

There was a brief silence. Finn looked at Cyraenie and Laryan, expecting them to pour scorn on her claim.

But while Cyraenie seemed stunned by what sh&diid Abdear d, she

Laryan merely looked thoughtful, as if he was a computer correlating all the data, and arriving at conclusions

based on it.
Al see, 0 hiesloslabutdnotbdcausedewas doubting her word; simply taking on board what she
was sayhg. AfAnd what was this additional factor you mentioned
your ability to sense these events. o0
AAh, 0 said the Doctor, significantly. AThat would be wh
emergingfromi t s chrysalis. o
Cyraenieds mouth dropped open, and even Laryan | ooked st
fiChrysalis? 0 he excl ai med. AA Nithl onNthonRdbe you telling me yo
Ailf itds about four to five feet | ong wietsh ot ragm separ drhte wi
Doctor. A Why ? Somet hing unusual about that?0o

Cyraenie and Laryan just looked at each other, momentarily wordless. Finn had a strong suspicion it took
alot to disconcert Laryan; learning the reason promised to be interesting.
Laryan recovered himself, and reached for his communicator.
Al think, before you go any6d uwadbiee ritro tomentéeds scomeenes adli 0
f

il you dondét mind?0
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Chapter1 4
Scientists and Their Theories

Professor of Biology Eight Nine Two Ehrath was tall and spare, with straight fair hair long enough to touch
his collar. He also had a rather engaging air of slight absentmindedness. Finn reminded herself that clichés only
came into being becaise they were based on realitiesand Professor Ehrath was a classic of his kind.

At the moment his absent-mindedness was itself absenti completely i replaced by a mounting professional
excitement over her and t helylatchedNMithld.s Nitblons, it appetredr weng orilyh  t he ne
rarely seen, and no-one had everi ever!i had a close encounter with one.

It seemed that, quite unknowingly, she and the Doctor had had an experiencefor which most of the scientists
on Felindre 7 and certainly the biol ogistsi would happily have signed away their souls. HenceLar yanoés ear |l i er
episode of amazement, andt h e P r odureest excitement.

Such excitement, fortunately, that he never thought to ask what they had beendoing roaming in a restricted
area. Finn found herself glancing at Laryan, who was observing the scenein that unobtrusive way he had, and
made a small bet with herself that the circumstancewa s s omet hi ng t hhrssmohadedt eeecapéeédhe
chosen for some so farunexplained reason not to remark upon it.

He caught her eyes upon him and his own twinkled in response, almost as if he could read her mind. She

smiled briefly , and turned her attention back to Ehrath.

AThiisweilsl , i tds incrediblelg. Woii@®elr§jyubh! Dewepseeaggl enhbavei av
Nithlon, | et alone been present at a hatching. And it | usH
AWell, not quite, o the Doctor amended. AWe had a quick

Ehrath looked at him, his face suddenly blank.

AfConversation?0 he queried, as if he coul dnospeabel i eve hi
And theyoére not i nitvedllli,geentar molthse yiémrsee g tuss.t Thereds no such
AOh, hemeé20 tt he Doct or abbuetgrasetotheachalieage,but Kina tekryed it an apt
moment to interrupt him , to keep the subject on track

il f this one wa sctually, yrofasson Yithlons argimmebsgly intelligent, 0 she said. fRight
frombith T7i f t hat 6s 1t shecouldtalkiintelligiblg.r Unlike us! We have to learn our language and

how to use it; she came into the world ready equipped with bothc o mpr ehensi on aBhksmiledcabul ary. ¢

Alt was arkradltty exepmai ence, I can tell you.o
iLook, |l &m sorry, young | ady, but this is just not possi l
Nithlons T 0

AEvi dent |l y, 0 mu sattevoce, dut loud enouDhofar Ehoath,to hear him and cast him a
momentarily irritated glance .
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i\ but one thing we do know is that they donét hawe vocal
the biologist finished stubbornly.

ADi dndt say they did, d grumpeidsttébhse altotcittourd,e .i r rBEhtraattend fblya s
perplexed look.

AThen how could you possibly have a conversation, as you
fiBecause she telepathed, 06 Finn said, simply.
Ehrat hdéds face was a picture of disbelief and disdain.

fiTelepathy? What rubbish! In my opinion, and that of many other reputable scientists, telepathy is
completely unproven scientifically. And y ou 6 r e ¢ betienhienpga tthos ,norted Ehrath, scorffdlly. s
AfTel epathic peopl e t al kidnogntlivkso! hTelepathy, éntleedddat hi ¢ i nsect ? |

The Doctords eyes blazed, but now even Finnbés ire was r al
with an uncharacteristically steely eye.

AForgive me, Professor, becauséd msnotl i ke aocacdemil gzli k&
whatyoudve just said, o she said grimly. i And distdlddl, me i f | & m
amlcorrect in saying youdve just called me a l|liar?20o

Cyraenieds eyes wer e r oconstdrnation;t hL arsyt omd ss hwemde a@aldm and amu
Doctor had forgotten his annoyancei n amusement at Finnds reaction; he wonder
was hers, and how much had been influenced by his mind in hers. Whatever theanswer, it had certainly brought
Ehrath up short. His face was a combination of shockand discomfort, not just at her words, but, the Doctor
suspected, at himself, his own attitude.

Awel |, n o that is X wett, t hegint 7 thatis, | d i d meani o

Finn let him flounder for a moment before interrupting.

AfDo | not stri ke yoan? lusctioaal?f Notabelrgnt? i oeasorable lgved of istelligence
and comprehensi on?0 she demanded.

iwel |, yeshuti®mf cour se

AfAnd wer e you timquesion? Retsonall mesenttoewitriess it? Do you have any experience

of interacting with a Nithlon , either subjective or objective? 0 Finn continued to press her &

i Weileri no é 0 Ehrath now sounded thoroughly defl ated.

A Then wkindly hawe the courtesy to explain onexactywh at basi s youdbre doubting my
demanded. Al dd al ways understood that an open mind was a |
about that. What was it somebody said once? Somthing about scientists being more attached to their theories
than they are to their wives ald children? I dm beginning

She caught the Doctordéds eye, and they shared a brief smi!|

whom he had introduced her. He played briefly with the idea of one day literally introducing her, but then
decided he had more important things to concentrate on at the moment.
Ehrath stuttered for a moment or two, then his shoulders sagged. He looked at Laryan, as if for supyort.
i S h eréliableavi t nes s, Ehrat h, 0 sai d L arandfightingsolkeefthertvgnklhin s head s
his eyes at a tolerable level il f thatdéds what she says, I 6d take it as the
Ehrath looked floored.
A Weililf you say so, 0 he Ifeavassidest tbr aviesvanknheyts, obeiduslylthinkirtg .
deeply. Then he took a deep breath, pulled himselferect, and looked at Finn.
AMi ss Thornton, Il 6m so terribly sadirlry,ugdnd nywydudroe ds ¢ nti ers|
simply becauseit®8 out si de of my personal experience or professional
Finnds irritation, |l i ke the Doctords, had quickly transmi
ofsympat hy and empathy. After all, shedd had to deal with a
, and she knew it hadnot been a comfortable e
tolerant of someone else undergoing the sameprocess.

beliefs, once
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AThat 6s quite all/l right, Professor, o she told him, sound,i
a bit confoundi Bgievame,l know!sdt , i sndét it ?

He smiled at her gratefully, but with a degree of uncertainty; he was still obviously engaged in rearranging
long-held beliefs.

ifiSo, now that peaceful diplomatic relations have been re:
implications of this that | believe the Doctor wants us to discuss further, now that the ele me n t o fandRhen n 6 s
Do c t detefathic sensitivity has been accepted by everyoneat least as a working hypothesis |l sndt that so,

Doctor ?0

ifYes! Absolutely! o agreed the Doctor. iThe reason | me]
contact betweeniti heri and Fi nn was much stronger than it was with me.
sensitive to whatever it is thatos making t hdaheiesoco.nt act s wi

I havendt betenshgeeds inddomwhadtet way. shebds been getting it.

AfYet you say this happens simultaneously with the quakes"
AEvery time, 0 agreed the Doctor.
AfAnd earlier you talked about savi ng tHneisegxpedaencag, . So what

and that?o0

The Doctor didndét answer, merely raised his eyebrows and
realized that i f Ehrathés credulity had been strained bef o
And that it might be wise to confine any further exchanges to the original group, certainly until he knew what
theory the Doctor was proposing.

AEhrath, thankskhew gomibudgwant to hear about the Nithlon
smoothly. A But we mustndt keep you from your proper work, not nc
of the situation. Tell you what, 16l catch upghowi th you |

would that be?o0

Ehrath nodded in stunned acquiescence.

fiYesé Yes, of course, o0 he agreed, docilely. He | ooked
shaking his head ruefully. fi | t 6issudbealy, his face dndbdyesivere t ak e i n! |
animated again, almost mischievousi fiist @ctual ly been rather interesting, you
shouldersand | ooked at LaryanyafgladInl. | éd&Rk gthar, warhaent oLtame update

He flashed a brief smile at everyone, then walked slowly to the lab door. He paused before leaving, his eyes
unfocused, his long fingers resting absently on the handle; clearly he was already unaware of themjnstinctively
plunged into analysis of what hed d fjearned. Then he went through the door, and closed it behind him.

Finn looked at Laryan, blew out her cheeks, and tilted her eyebrows at him.

il know just how he feels, 0 she remar ked. il n€epr mati on

by the way. o

He smiled.

il simply speak the truth as | see it,o he said. AiThat |
N o widhe turned to the Doctor, who was regarding the exchange with amusementi it o r ei t er ate: whatos
relatonbet ween Finndés experiences and saving the planet? Savi

AFrom whatever it is that Ghyron discovered, 0 said the D
Ghyron say to you, the | ast time you saw him?o0

She thought hard.

iHe s aisledeasitatedi Aihe said hedd put a report in to the Admini
Zarramin wanted to talk to him about it. He said there we
me promise not to tell ata meo rother than thd Prafessern Themeha daid wewere i
algoing to need luck. o She | ooked up, her eyes rather over

The Doctor | eaped onto her hesitation. AiThough what ?0 h
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Ailt was KDtvrearogé § | us tProfessoneonlkrow lesdsoobit? The onehe always kepton
his desk?9o

Laryan nodded. fiDestroyed by the fire, I assume. 0

iNo! No, it wasnot! You see, two day ssawhimpetitinhie di sappe:
pocket before he went to see the Administrator. But somehow; after that, he must have managed to get into my

rooms and hid it there. There was a messageavith it i fiPlease keep me safe, and please keepme secreth d on ot

understand whatheme ant , and in any case | forgot about it wuntil no:
Shel ooked around theiSarrfyaékd®s, anxiously. f

i Of course you forgot about it in the circumstances, 0 S
a good idea if we took a Il ook at it now, dondét you?o0

Cyraenie leapt to her feet and fled for the door.

1611 be quick as | can! o she promised, and vanished.

=1

What 6s a soobit?0 Finn asked.

1

AThose little furry creaturesiRemembwr® tAshDackosai emi e
soobits. o

fi Ohhpse, 0 she acknowl esdwgielde,. wifitThh ea chudikeddhend o uddl y ones.

AGhyron was a very gifted amateur artist, o Laryan remar k
among his talents. He was always making figures of the various types of creatures on Felindre, but he had a
particularly soft spot for soobits. The one that Cyraenie mentionedi he al ways kept that on his o0
lookedt hought ful . Al wondenmethowshe oggtetpadt itnhe® HMhied apart men
some very overpowering reason to want to do that. To protect it from someone, presumably. He obviously
d i dmedartd his own quarters as safe enougho

ABut why? I f itds jaskaed a carved figureé?o0 Finn

fiPresumablyi tsonsethingmor e t han t hat ,meanmgillyd Ther ®@rnifgdod aryam with
a complete change of tone,fiSo, Professori y ou can vouch for Cyraenieb6s whereabout
Butwher eds Ans adeanhe?sincelda littke nodfab first thing this morning . 0

Laryan gave this remark due consideration, and realized it was true.

ANo, neither have |, 0 he saidlatewleti nyé have no i dea w!
AMi ght be, 06 t he DatdFinrosignifieagtly.e e d, |l ooking
For a moment, she was puzzled. Then she realized what hi

at the top of the airbridge, who must have sabotaged the train. And at that time Cyraenie, Helenay and Ansalar
had all been on the list of possible supects. But LaryanwasCy r a e aibi,eadddHelenay had been on the other
end of F iemergénsy callvam the train.

Whereas Ansal ar é

Chapter1 5
The Secret of the Soobit

AHel | o, Professor Ehrath, o said a voice, ipWwhkcbhbheihadg t he pei
been immersed as he absently headed back towards his own laboratoy.
Startled, he looked up, and found Zarramin regarding him with a quizzical | ook.

i Oh! Admi ni strator! Do forgive me! I was somewhere el
ASotoydisturb you, then,d Zarramin apologi zed.

il doubt you could have disturbed me any more than | alr
A Why ? What 6 &6 dotamtpvestched isiness ofthet r ai n crash?o

fi Oh, no, n baye beeo talking ®ith the lhvestigator and his assistant. Andt hat 6 s what | found

disturbing! Professionally, speaking, that is.0
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Zarramin frowned.
ADiIi sturbing?d@!|lme whape atag®.0

=1

You wonot believe melddo dBBLt dhbre | Wwaov esetda rhti nwi t hiié! o

Everyone looked round asCyraenie burst urgently back into the Astrogeology lab, something clutched in one
hand, which she extended toward the Doctor.
AAh! Thanks! o0 said the Doctor, taking it frbdoyduer withot
know where Ansalar is? Bihce firsPthim thsm@mng . basndt seen her
Cyraenie blinked.
ANeither hadwda tlt,edd.s hei Why? Does it matter?0o
AfHope not, o0 said the Doctor. i Now, what have we got her
him, rotating it in his fingers so that everyone had a clear view, before offering it to Finn.
She looked at it dosely. A beautifully carved figurine of a soobit, no more than three inches high, expertly i
if somewhat thickly i painted to reproduce the exact colouration of the fur. It has been posed sitting erect on its
back legs,with tiny black beads of eyes, pavs clasped against its chest, the prehensilelooking tail wound around
its feet. A beautiful piece of craftsmanship, but there was nothing to indicate to her why Ghyron had gone to such
lengths to hide it before his death.
She handed iton to Laryan,throwi ng a mysti fied | ook in the Doctordés dire
peering over his shoulder, subjected it to a similar examination before passing it back to the Doctor.
AAnd what are we to make of it?0 hestreichegipalnmed, dropping i
The Doctor didnoét answer, but produced the sonic screwdr |

AWhat 6s that?0 Cyraenie asked.

The Doctor | ooked at the sonic as if hedbd never seen it |

AiThi s? Oh, iwel,scasnarsoirf gbu |ike, 0 he said hurriedly.

AReal |l y? |l ve never seen one |like it before, o Laryan col

iAhé Well, itds a recent issue to Investigators. Very |
back to the readings it was givinghim. i Not j ust very, 0 he added, with growing e
Incredibly! Profoundly! Seriouslyusef ul ! 0

AfBecauseé?0 Laryan prompted, amused.

AfBecause of this,d said the Doctor. He put the soobit d

setting, and pointed it at the little figure. Without warning, it split neatly into two around the waist. The Doctor
tucked the sonic away againbefore reaching down and pulling the two halves apart. Something fell to the surface
of the desk between them. He picked it up and brandished it triumphantly at everyone.

Betweenthe tips of those long, elegant fingers ofhis, he was holding a miniaturized memory card.

Ansalar was sitting on the edge of her bed, face buried in her hands. She felt incredibly weary. So tired of all
the |lies, the pretence, the pressure. The bl ackmail. She
done behind her, disown and discard her criminal acts by making a new life, anewcareerrShe 6d t hought this
opportunity on Felindre woul d be the answer to everything.

But it seemed that even when you tr i edveyowbelhindkave such thi:
And to think shedd been so grateful to Zahavingmi n when heo
discovered her background! | f only shedd known the kind of man he really

assurancesé
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A tear of self-pity trickled from the corner of one eye, as she contemplated the immediate past and the
potential future. What was she to do? How could she escape this terrible cycle she was locked into?

She wasrd given the time to pursue that question. The communicator sprang into life, demanding an
answer.

Not her personal communicator. The other one. The secret one.

She stared at it for some moments. Then, reluctantly, she reached out and activated it.

iWhewree you been?0d hissed ,indigpantlyoi ce at the other end

il t took me a while to get back down from ®@nenoticedshe said
me. ButtheDoct or 6 s a cihustbeantomaly.now. HHe6s bound to have noeticed |0

AiNever tthred reesss, somet hing else | want you to do. o

AWhat i f | dshemsdggestadalmost curioudly, as if she had a choice.

i An s a Il wantyouiofdo something, whatyouwant i s irrelevant, 0 hd Und €£wrsed he

you want me to completely expose your real identity to your colleagues of course And your employers. And
anyone else upon whom you might have been relying for your future prospectso
AWoul dnodt yoararte ael x psceslef , t oohallengemlr r ami n?0 she
i Me? Oh, no, my dear. Il dm t oo respected, too esteemed.
without having a lot of powerful friends. Very powerful friends. My word against the word of a convicted
murderess, who so cleverly fakedher new identity that evenl| was completely taken in? A mistake anyone could

have made in my place in the circumstances? No , I 8m s af e eanroeung@hyouwill Bounvhat Iyted u
you. Wonod6t you?0 he finished, complacently.
She satsilentlyragi ng, wi shing she could throw it all back in his

had of getting through this nightmare and eventually being free of him would be entirely gone. She just had to
grit her teeth and take it.

AWhat is ittgodoWw@antSme coul d i magsickdefeatinberwice. | e as he hee
iThat girl, Finn Thornton, 06 he said. fildve lleadordt t hat

care how you do it, but | want that threat removed. Permane nt | vy . And i mmedi ately. Do you
AOf course | !&angippekvialentty, apdocut the communication between them.

She sat for a few moments, staring resentfully at the unit in her hand before throwing it angrily onto the
floor, where it skittered across the surface until it hit the base of the wall.
AOof course | understand you, 0 she repeated, in a savage

In the Astrogeology lab, everyone was clustered around the Doctor as he attempted to access the memory

cr déds dat a.

ABl i mey! 0 ,peeringgntently threugh his glasses. fiYour Ghyron wasnodét just an
He was a bit of an artist with encryption, too! What ever 6.

AiDi fficulked2d Finn as

i'VerEyehformei and t hatés s ayyraemei Pofessorihliébnng!goi ng t o need your

this, o the Doctor announcedner-linketHedpgwarsdingg muand pl @&ml|l gqoiemg t
from you on what some ofthe m mi ght be. You knew him, so youdre better p
have used. 0
ARi ght! o said Laryan, in a businesslike manner, and Cyr a
Finn stood back, thinking that if the Doctor was finding it complicated, there was no thing she was likely to be
able to contribute to proceedings. She felt distinctly superfluous.
Laryan noticed her expression, and quickly deduced the reason.
AwWhy donét you go to your suite and try tadquiteadayso f or a wl

far. And once wedve unencrypted the dat a, I 611 wager anyt|
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once we know what this danger is that Ghyron discovered!
strength. Dondét you think?09

The Doctor looked at him and then at Finn, belatedly realizing he was probably the one who should have
been making that suggestion. Finn caught his expression a

transparent. And so predictable!

il do feel a bit tired, o she admitted. AProbthénky reacti
you Somebody tell me i f anything exciting happens, wonot
Af6Course we will, o the Doctor a ment? o di | ldenrd .t dfalr ed We you o
AThahlk st hi nké! o She gave him another smile, and | eft t he

The Doctor watched her go, a bit anxiously; he kept forgetting that the constant risks of his lifestyle were
something she was still getting used to. Still, sheseemed to be coping. He returned his attention to the screen,
wrinkling his nose at the display.

Finndd be alll right, he was sure.

Chapter 1 6
A Problem Put on Ice

As Finn made her way back to the suite, she was unaware of being under surveillance. But her every move
was beingobserved

Ansal ar coul dnét believe her |l uck. Shedd been wondering
woul dndt haveywanyedi ng while he was around. She still <co
what should have been the consequences of the sabotage she
picked up from the conversations of other people, in some unknownwayh e 6d been responsible for

But now here wasFinn, alone. Vulnerable. And Zarramin had issued her death sentence.

Which she, Ansalar, had no choice but to carry out, if she was to ensure her own future.

Shewatched the unsuspecting girl use the biometric panel and go into the suite.

This time, there must be no mistake.

And she knew just how she was going to do it. There was no way Finn Thornton wuld survive what Ansalar
was going to do to her this time.

Finn, stretched out on top of the bed, hadn@ been asleep more than a few minutes when an insistent
summons from her communicator unit roused her again. She blinked at it, wondering if the Doctor had solved
the problem of Ghyronds encrypt inmmunicatbr upefeom the table Srhamhichs at up an
shedod. eft it
AfHel l o, 0 she said, hoping she didndédt sound as dozy as sh
0

AfiFinn Thorntonéod hissed a voice, S di storted that she ¢
speaking.

AWho i s témas@dd she d

Al Hawnd or mati oné We need to meet . 0

Finn rubbed her eyes, trying to rise to the situation, and think concisely.

iWel | , c¢ omeshhsuggested tThindyrsyitd Wedd be in private here. o
ANo! 0 exclaimed thdlvaianéd,t as sikf baliargmedd.ené You must <co
nAl I right, o agreed Finn. Al éll just wait for the Docto
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ANo! O excl ai medNboh®ocobioceé agawondtiAtal k to anyone

but vyo

you anything! Look, hurry and make your mindup! I candltt Gwsaigot. |t onulsé nfdw be mi ssed. 0
Finn didndt | ike the sound ofaffordtq riskomissing soma vital tiselosore?h er hand
AnAl I right, o she said, reluctantly. iWwhere do you want

AfCome to the LaboratdrCyyrBliadok. 7.Gr dlhred efnldoof the corrido

A sudden click told her the communicator had been shut off at the other end.

Finn looked at the communicator unit unhappily. But there seemed no alternative.

Should she tell the Doctor about this? Or should she show a bit of initiative, and tell him about what she
learned afterwards? After all, provided she was careful, why should there be a problem?

iCome on, Thornton, don6t be a wimp,o0 she told her
Which, she felt sure, wouldnét hawasagdng'cl uded botheri

But he certainly would have gone tofind out what the mystery contact wanted, right now. So that was what
shedd do, §&hestdod up daeisivelg, shoving the communicator into her pocket.

't didndét t ake he Corldar 7itgrned out tb he a deadread corridar yranching off the
main corridor: an arrow on the wall pointed to the #
There was noone in sight.

Whoever wanted to meet her must be behind that door, she supposed. Cautiously she approached it.

There was a viewing panel in it; when she peered through into thespacebeyond all she could see was a small
room with a second door in the far wall, its viewing panel pulled closed, and a kind of clothes rail, with what
appeared to be Arctic-type protective suites hanging on it.

Which provided an immediate clue to the purpose of the room beyond. As did the LED-style panel on the far
wal | , Fr28 dedreesdig large red numbers i presumably the TARDIS was translating for her whatever unit
of temperature measurement they used fAmesdelsiusin this a6 d

But the mainthingwast her e di dndédt appear to be anyone there

Carefully, she pushed the door further open, and put her head round it. There was definitely no-one there.

But the second door, she noticed, was also slightly ajar. Was that where her unknown contact was waiting?

sel f s
ng to

Col d Si

probal

AHel |l 0?06 she ventured, nervously. AiAre you there?0

No reply.

She walked across to the second door, and paused, listening. She could feel a movement of extremely cold air
filtering through the gap, but could hear absolutely nothing.

AHel | 0?20 she trikidnrmgai n. Altoés me

Still no answer.

There was nothing for it but. She pushed the door open, slowly, and took one step over the threshold.

She had only time for the briefest glimpse of the racks of ice cores marching away in rows in front of her
before an arm reached around the doorway so suddenlythat she had no time to react. It seized her wrist and
heaved her forward. Her shoes slipped on the icy floor underfoot and she sprawled forward heavily; her head
made sharp contact with the metal edge of the nearest rack.

Dizziness and shock immobilize d her f or a moment , but not so much
roughly searched, and something being taken; but by the time she was coherent enough to decide she needed to
get to her feet, the door was already being slammed behind her. She hard the lock click, ominously. Then, a few
seconds later, a further, fainter click. Whoever it was had locked the outer door, too.

She stumbled forward on the slippery floor and heaved on the handlei briefly, before her unprotected
fingers froze to it i but to no purpose. And there was no response when she yelled to her assailant to let her out.
Which was a pointless thing to do in any case, she r
werendt exact!l y g o ithegskingo Therewas rothing siieecoulddost f or

Wait a minute 7 her communicator unit! She reached into her pocket for it.

It was gone.
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Of cour se; t hat was what her assail ant had taken from hei

help.

Strang el vy, it wasndt wuntil then that the true extremity of
the freezing air that until now s he hadn 6éthowmact troudleme t o ack:
she was in.

She was locked in acold storage facility, designed to keep ice cores below freezing. And what she was
wearing was totally inadequate to cope with such an environment. The Doct or 6s memory helpfully
moment to surface in her mind and inform her that humans, in an e nvironment of minus twenty degrees
centigrade, became unconscious within an hour, and died within six to sevenhours.
I f she c¢ oulhewastquitgliéetally,aairtg fo freeze to death
It took her only a few desperate moments to establish that there was no other way out of the storage roomi
only the one door. The reinforced metal one. The locked one.
Already she was shivering uncontrollably as the icy air assaulted her unprotected skin.
She was going to have to hope that the Doctor noticecher absence soon.

Very soon.
*
iGot iit!o the Doctor yelled, |l eaping to his feet so sudd
base of her throat, she joined Laryan atngawagleddiogct or 6s scr e

recognizable binary code behind. The Doctor seized each side of the monitor as he watched the data decoding
atan acceleratheauty! o ahe.cr dwed, triumphantly, and, | eaning f«
smacking kiss.
After what seemed an endess wait, the encryption totally vanished, leaving what seemed like auncountable
number of screensfilled with zeros and ones.
ANow, whatdédve you gpoor mbhatwortr dst arnhed Ddectoricdmanded? o
Al can do t hared. 8he Began toenovie ®waadfthk screen, but the Doctor stayed her.

AHang on, 0 he said. ADondét want this | ot cguypleohg AWOL agali
backups! Safety in numbers. o He Illoeorkteyd @ft nhmbesrcs efear alg a
make themplentys af e, shall we?0

Cyraenie smiled, and her fingers danced over the keyboard.

ATwo backups, coming up, o0 she promised. AThisdl |l only t;
AThen we can convert t hehardxcters aor ys aii ndt Blu dar | ypahrghpmobafiie stil tc 6
be completely raw data. We 6 | | need to pr oc es systensbeforeirtodiglh e rawswaif lt avlalr e i r
Ghyron would have used to compile his report. And there seems to bea prodigiousamountof it , 0 he remar ke
watching the progress of the backup procedure i Wh hasttheoryewvgs, it seems to have required a great deal
of very complex proof. Thi s is going to be rather interesting, I suspec

AHow dontghi s al?0gtohegDd ot armakenquired.

AThis amount lofsubsgpteaa? hemd | bavemoshfegmpkdxi mofielbl ing s
Ilthink wedre talking a couple of hours, at the very Il east, 0

The Doctor sighed.

fHate waitng f or the film of the book, d he commented. AfiHope t

il doubt youbre going to be disappointed on that score, 0

They all looked up as the lab door opened, and Ashlaik came in.

iHel | o, Doicdt.or ,fiol hceansea t o see i f youdre all right. And F
thel ab, realizing Finn wasnét one of the Ilittle group around

iOh, we packed h e rthe bdctor frawaed,brealizingdnd fadi rto @ea how long agoi

factually, I dondt know how | ong ago. How | ong ago, Cyr ae
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AAbout two hours, Doctor, o she informed him.

AAs | ong as that ?HowWetail meg ?f | iGoo,d nvelsesr 0y cswad rde t ehrej dDyicrnt @ ry. o u
AAbouthouwes ago, 0 he repeated helpfully, turning back to As

ioh, 0 said Ashl aik. ARi ght . Do you think | should chec!

ican if you Ilike, 0 said the Doctor cheerfully. il 6d gi v
sleep. 0

i Ok asyaiod Ashl ai k. Al ol l do that. o

iMeanwhile, 0 said the Doctor, turning back to his screen
exactly, is the problem with that Panoptes Array of yours?:q

AA software malfunction, ONpdi duCer degquete HDB8bilkevwas haol @&

AiOh, you can believe it malfunctioned, absolutely, o the |

welb,t hat s more up for debat ekt hBoskhetaéem fakes&20l ook. Wher e

In the Cold Storage Facility, the racks of ice cores stood silently in the subzero temperatures, the secrets
they held in their crystals still sacrosanct, waiting for release.

Nothing else moved in the frozen chamber.

Certainly not the huddled figure on the frost -rimed floor.

Chapter 1 7
The Freezer

The appointed hour later, Ashlaik reappeared through the lab door.

iDoctor, o he said, rather diffidently.

He didndédt get an i mmediate response. The Doctor was stil
Panoptes Array, and completely ignored his arrival.

iNearly there!o he announced to the room at | arge. ilJus:
Professor. o

AThanks, but youbve got a visitor,o6 Laryan pointed out,

The Doctor looked at him, surprised, then followed the direction of his gaze toward Ashlaik.

fioh! Ah! Ashlaik! Thereyouarel How i s she?0 he asked, cheerfully.
il dondét know, 0 Ashlaik said. il coul dndét orpandskect her .
didndt answer when | wused the communicator. o
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AiShe must be a very sound sl eeper, o0 Cyraenie observed. |‘
makes. 0

The Doctor looked at her, then back at Ashlaik. For some r easone hiedecnotuilfdyn 6 th equdiitdnot
sound of that.

He looked at Laryan, who looked gravely back.

ifiPerhaps you ought to go and check on her youfl émlf, Doct
sure the Array can keep until you get backo

il damdt ywu here on your own, 0 the Doctor disagreed inst
whatever6s buried in this data getting out. Il &dm not ri ski

AiYou wonét be, 0 Laryan assured him. fuBAsllaak®d ShetwA s h |l ai k
ofus o6l | keep guard over it wuntil you get back. o

(@}

Ashl ai k Brddwdat.exdadctly is it wednamy.guarding?d he asked

fi Oh, the Professoroll tell you al|l about it ,meot, he Doctor
Cyraenieil et 6s go and make sure Finnds safe. o He paused. ADi
safe. Definitely safe. Completely safe. Must be We just need to check on the o6all 1

He looked around attheirfaces; nobody commented on the fact that he w;
alone them.

ARi ght, 0 he said, more decisively. fiCome on, then!o An

Laryan, without comment, mov e Ashlaknlookingwdrreed, Camedvesands vacat ed
sat down by him, looking with muted curiosity at the torrent of information on the screen.

ASo what is it webre guarding, Professor?d he asked. A Wi

ANot entirely clear on ,camyt miSebboghykedmobegidniagyto ha
Buti t s a very interesting story to date. Are you sitting c

The Doctor raced to the door of their suite far enough ahead of Cyraenie for her not to spot that he was
opening the door with the sonic screwdriver, not the proper biometric system i though he slapped his palm
briefly onto the panel, just for show.

Butonce inside, herealizedh e anxi ety that had been growing in him sinc
been justified. Finn wasndét in the bedroom; wasndét in any
room, thinking furiously, while Cyraenie d ouble-checked everywhere, as if she expected to find something he
hadnot .

AWhere is she?0 she asked, hel pl essl y. ifWhat 6s happened

She took an involuntary pace backwards as the Doctor turned a manic glare on her; for a moment she was
very frightened, until she reali zedpeisdagnalywasnét really directed at
il dondt know, 0 he said, thanmedplti! set Heedt dndét AiBompl Etany!
but Cyraenie found herself feeliimguedlionsti nctly gl ad she was:

AfCome on! o snapped the Do &Nowbwo. HeWdavel gadt toovaffidsd tther do
off down the corridor.

Cyraenie followed, not realizing she wasdoing something that most people who spent time around the
Doctor had to do, at some time or another.

Run.

Very, very fast.
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Sitting in his office, Zarramin checked the time, and smiled a distinctly unpleasant smile of satisfaction.

Ansal ar had reported back to him on what shedéd done. Hedd
an inventive way to kill someone. Because by now, Finn Thornton must certainly be dead. Most definitely a
frozen asset!
Zarramin chuckled to himself.
He did so love a dead certainty.
*
An hour of increasingly frenetic searching had finally brought the Doctor and Cyraenie back to the
Laboratory Block. And, finally, to Corridor 7.
The Doctor looked at the sturdy metal door at the end of the corridor.
AiWhat 6s i n h aaskirgoverhoat aral pderinglin through the glass viewing pane. What he could
see was a small chamber, a bit like an airlock, with another, similar door at the other end. Except that the viewing
pane in that one had been closed off by a sliding metal panel. On the left was the clothes rail with its row of
protective suits.
AThat 6s the freezer, 0 said Cyraenie, with aillight smile
studies the glaciersi he keeps his ice cores in there. For atmospheric researchthat kind of thing. It has to be
keptatleastt wenty degrees below freezing to protecttomdke m. That 6
sure warm air doesndét |l eak in. o
AfCan | see?0 asked the Doctor, nodoorhandieti ng for an answer
It woul dndt budge.
AThat s odd, 0 said Cyraenie. iltds never kept 1T ocked no
same resul t. AiThat 6s not keycagdh®, 0 she decl ared. Al o6l 1l get
She headed over to a small metal abinet affixed to the wall, and opened it.
As she did, the Doctor surreptitiously slid the sonic screwdriver out of his breast pocket and aimed it briefly
at the lock.
Al édll just give it another try, o0 hewsdihoutr @aaghirrrgicuta.nc
lookiit mustoédve just been a bit stuck. Al'l right now. 0
AJust as well, 0 said Cyraenie, tur ni-shgpedf forovwnbetmeewwhiet h a f r o
eyebr owkeycardbtmte here. o
Analarmbellbegan t o sound in the Doctor6s mind. Quickly he str
door, and grasped the handle.
Like the first, it refused to move.
The Doctor slid back the metal panel covering the viewing pane, and looked into the room beyond.
On the floor, leaning against one of the racks, Finn was croucted. Her eyes were closed, her body curled in
on itself with her arms clasped against her chest, her knees drawn up to her chin. She was covered with a rime of
frost, and she was absolutelymotionless.
With no attempt to dissemble this time, the Doctor instantly fired the sonic screwdriver at the second lock,
threw the door open, and raced between the racks of ice cores, Cyraenie on his heels.
He heard her gasp as the abrupt drop intemperature hit her skin, but he took no notice. He simply dropped
to one knee, scooped Finn up in his arms, and ran out again. Cyraenie shut the door behind them, cutting off the
blast of frozen air that followed them out.
AfSheds not deasktd, hoirified, astslee2udnedsidhwere the Doctor had laid Finn out on the
corridor floor.
He didnot answer ; he was | eaning over Fi nn, one of her h

scanning her face.

Then, with utter astonishment, Cy r aeni e saw t he gi rHowcsuldahatdé gossible?f | ut t er op ¢
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Finnds eyes and the Doctordéds | ocked together, and Cyraeni
on both faces. But the question persisted i how could Finn have surviv e d ? Surely there was no wze
ANo, shedés not dead, 0 said the Doctor, finally answering
eyes. ABit too chilly for comfort, though. Letds get her
Fi nnds | |andsshedfqgoedaehdarse whisper out between them, blinking the melting rime out of her
eyes
ifiGets my vote...O0 she murmured.
Chapter 1 8
The Consequences of Being a Danger
As the Doctor vigorously declined alerting any official channels, which taking Finn to the medical centre
would certainly have achieved, Cyraenie hurried them to her own rooms, where she made the Doctor wait while
she helped Finn out of her own clothes, now becoming damp as the rime melted into them, and into a thick
wrapoverrobeof her own. Finn found she needed the help; her | im
properly to her will.
The Doctor was pacing impatiently around the living area, but stopped as soon as the bedroom door opened,;
he leapt across to them and heped Cyraenie install Finn on the couch.
Al 6l l get something hot for you to drink, o0 Cyraenie said,.
The Doctor knelt in front of Finn, and looked at her, his eyes a mix of elation, relief, and anxiety. He put a
fingert o his | ips and gestured with his head toward the kitche
their conversation. Finn signalled her comprehension with a long, slow blink of her eyelids.
ALl I right?0 the Doctor asked, in a | ow voice.
fioStpelc will be, before |l ong, 0 she said. T h eold with a sut
comfort. . . O
The Doctor grinned briefly.
ANo, itds your insulation membrane, 0 he said, lightly.
Ails it still working?d6d Finn asked, surprised.

AOor youdwoét be here, o the Doctor agreed. AEach applicat.
of f yet. I'n your personal timeline, ités |less than that s
fDoes Cyraenie know that? ?0About the membrane, | mean
i No . Candt exactly tell her , either. Hasnot been i nven:

hadndét vy et howberwksegdingdowtplain that one. Then he set the matter aside in favour of more
i mportant matter 2.0 hfeWhastk eldgppomnuedli ng rather gri m.
iSomeone called me, 0 she said. AiTold me they had some i |
ikewhi spering, really. Didnét recognize them, whoever it we
iMan or woman?o
ACoul dndt tebhbobdbogBheclookRk®wthen | got here, the doors wer
second one when someone reached around it, grabbed my arm, and threw me inside. Never saw who it was.
They took my communicator. By thastsmet | dld pli ckleld myslel ¢ ot
and there wasnd6t anyone to hear me. Not sure i f they coul
| coulddowasi wai t . o
For you. He could hear the unspoken words quivering in his own head, andthey daunt ed hi m. I f it
been for the insulation membrane, Finn would now be dead.
Because he would never have found her in time. In the end, of course he woul@ vfend her i but not in
time. He could have |l ost hertfopewmea. dodt | b@wbaobBewsbhkedooul |
probl em, i f hedd been with hedndét Buavéea haadmidd .s c Uaawd kiev éan .
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And she might have died because of it...
She put out a hand to touch his forearm.

il hope that I|yokdond®elsindmi mgayourself, o0 she said, soundir

M&Cur se it does, 0 he contradicted her. AWho el se is ther

Awell, you could always try whoever it was that | ocked m
the obvi osussem & Trhieeyh more | ogi cal candidate, to me. o

He thought about that, and nodded.
ioOkay, fine by defieitelp bldmethesna Muth betterfsdludidnl o
Finn chuckled.

il think so,0 she agreed.

il dondt understand heww shehcauldwhiBempsuawvure for such
perplexed. iShe must hars.eHow @@ds hien stubrev ifvree?edz er f or

She glanced through the open bedroom door to where Finn, having downed the hot drink Cyraenie had
provided, was now sleeping.

AiMore to the point, who | ocked her in there?0 said the D
woul dnét have to explain about the insul atiiecmemambhm®ne do @
that herself. Someone del i berately trapped her in there, intending h

Cyraenie stared at him.

iBut who would want to do that?0 she asked, taken aback.
AJust what 16d |Iike to know, & Tshaei & wthiyem prettg soeikmowf r dvdni ng |
the 6whoo. In fact, o he amended, ilom pretty sure | know |

Finn this time.oOo He stared t hr ouwgdark,sogem,tha Gyraeniec ouhednékt eepi |
stop herself shivering. Once again, she was thankful she was not thearget of his anger.

Then his face changed, as an expression of realization spread across it.

AOh! OhDB! he excl ai med, suddenl y | e a peforebimwith fofefingersf eet , bot

poised, before abruptly siiltUnlesgi!down agai n. AUnl ess
AUnl ess what?0 Cyraenie demanded.
AUnl ess our friend Professor Ehrath unwittingly |let the
AC&20 she repeated, mldseunderstanding the
NnYes! Yes, 10611 bet thatodés what happened! tryingtotadke bet he
itallin,and repeated some of it to someone. Not realizing that
iWhat danger ?0
AfThdeanger Finn represented to their plans. To themsel ves
AWhajfust because she knows when an earthquakeds happeni n
could that be a danger to anyone?o0

ANo, not that, o0 said thoeshPokhowsdt bemt 6si dahgerotistde the
getting it from. Of course, that mustbe i t é'! No wonder they wanted her out of

AiDoctor, I dondt understand, 0 Cyraenie complained.

He smiled at her.

ADondét worry, o he aNosw,r eld thheirnk ifitYoosu twiimhel .we told the Pro
you?o

AAnd Ashlaik, o she smiled. AfDondt forgetd®Amsdhtl ayy ku t Hidrvle
s0?0

fiAhi youdve naqtoo,ltaeedou® h &te anithrae eqdally mischievous grin.
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fEridi d you mi s s quietwioe franstkedatoratory door.
Ashlaik and Laryan looked up to see Finn framed in the doorway, the Doctor and Cyraenie behind her.
AFinn! o Ashlai k excl ai mtakihghemhands. hu fiAir ed yowerml it orhght 20

She smiled at him, looking a touch embarrassed.

13

More or | ess, 0 she said.

ARating A Star Pl us, |l 6d say, 0 said the Doctor, foll owin
best efforts to the contrary. o

iSorry, everyone, 0 said Finn, making her way across the |
sat down in the chair next to his, and | ookedShaginnedt hi m. |‘
at him tentatively.

AMy rdegirl , o said Laryan, putting a hand on one of the sh
noted the action with some surprise; Laryan wasno6t nor mal |l
have been very worried about Finn, she thought.

ARi ght! So! Have we got anywhere with the data?0 said
scanned the screen. iOoh! Yes, we have! I's this the fini
AYes, it is,0 Laryan conf i rdnaatteristigaflydrinh iEseryone loaked atwas sudde n|
him, while the Doctor raced through the screens of information at a rate no human eye could have matched.
Fiiémncast a quick glance at him, and saw his expression was m
AfDoctorgiod.sheiVdhat is it?0
He didno6ét answer her, but went on gl owering at the screei
ifAshl ai k, | need you do to something for me, 0 he said.

The young engineernodded.

iOf cour se, Doctor . Wh at is it?2o0

i Come mei.toh The Doctor got to his feet and preceded Ashl a
watched, mystified, as the Doctor issued a series of rapidfire instructions in a voice too low for them to hear.
Ashlaik looked startled, and seemed to be replying with some sort of protest, but the Doctor overrode him.
Ashlaik eventually nodded, still looking perturbed, and left.

i Re me mhteerl | me the moment anything happens! o the Doctor ¢
shut and raced back to the computer, plumping himself back into the chair with emphasis.

ANow ust got to finish fixing your Panoptes Array, 0 he sa

watched keenly as the systems on the screen suddenly began to flash green instead of red.

AYoubve done it!o he exclai med.

fAnd these are the coordinates we need it to | ook at, o c
which nobody dared to speak, as if somehow doing so might
began to configure on the screen. Laryan | eaned over the Do

each other; Laryan nodded, slowly.
Ailt seems he was right, 0 1lnerediblaasdsetnsiamu dty .be AtSroueh.i®d t heor:

Chapter 19
Mother Planet

fiDoyoumeanGhyr on?0d asked Cyraeni e, i mpatiently. ARi ght abou
out ?0

iSomet hing that got him killed, o6 said the Doctor, dourly.

AiSomet hi ng t lskti Ideadr,loy Fgatn remi sdied? & i m. iSo what
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Ailt seems thereds a spatial elgeadtarcitd &l sptacremttorwav a@lsl iorug
Laryan hWhoikdnyaws fifhow | ong ités been o rnnexorably closmgivonthes ? Mi |l | e
path of this galaxy. Ghyron detectedit with the Array only very recently; he seems to have been experimenting
with extending the parameters, and apparently found the storm completely by accident,onynow t hat it é6s al mi
here. And tiscaveréds Thatha 6 s hgoi ng t ohefeneysosd ¢t Owi thawel | i ng at
incredible speed, for such a phenomenon Its angle of approach means that it only partially pass through the
very edge of the Omaron Tegwith galaxy. But Felindre will lie initspat h . 0

AAnd whyoés that dangerous?0 Finn asked. Because clearly

fiBecause this st particolar efectrommagnatid mdiaion wavejengths i radio waves. In most
cases the solar systems and planets wna be affected; they lack atmospheres, and any form of life that we know
about. Butin the case of Felindre, the effect of the radiation will be to overload the atmosphere with ozone. You
s e & baryan explained to her kindly, seeing the incomprehension on her facei fi wygen in its most stable form,
dioxygen, can be converted into ozone byelectrical discharges andthe action of high energy electromagnetic
radiation . Both of which are being exhibited by this storm to a degree which suggests the conversion will take
place with extreme rapidity. Whi ch wi |l |l be poisonous to all surface |ife or

AANd he moons?0d Cyr a-strickea, thawghk sheimust dreadyrhave known the answer.

Laryan looked at her bleakly.

i No-oé! o She | e-outbaecath of prajestdusekessly.

Al snédt there anyt hi ng hevquerga the Dbao?, feelingBurenitwasd isupefludue d
question,or he woul dndt be wearing the expression he was. He | ¢
didndt answer .

Silence reigned for several seconds.

Then Finn remembered something.

iDoctor, you havendt expl ai n eedrthgudkestandwhylsan feel themghetvayt o do wi

I do. What 6s that all about ?0
i Ah, this was where Ghyron got a bit clever, o0 said the D
round at all of them. From the expression onatahgadadobétbobghbe,i FRfant dedL

theory, but was still intellectually adjusting to it, whatever it was. It must be a lulu, Finn thought to herself;
Laryan struck her as a very openminded type, soifhewas having trouble with ité

AiHe wor ked eathquakebwerethdpmening 6 sai d the Doctor triumphantly,
Ghyron. Re member Cyraenie told us there were sudden releases o0
understood why? Ghyron worked it out. Did some serious thinking outside the box. And came up with the right
answer . 0

He paused for dramatic effect. Finn had to bite down hard not to rise to it, but Cyraenie did.

iWel | /isthleatanswer 20 she demanded i mpatiently.

The Doctor grinned, irritatingly.

AiFel i ndrteh ek nsocwosr mds coming, 0 he said.

Cyraenie frowned in extreme perplexity; she clearly didn:i
began to.

AThe planet knows?0 she said carefully.

The Doctor grinned at her; he could see she was getting it.

AYum he confirmed, with delight.

Finn grappled with the concept she was being presented with. No wonder Laryan was still blinking! She
took a deep breath and turned to Cyraenie.

iHe means the planetods alive, 0 selglncedaskahce atth® Boctbri vi ng, i nt
wondering if shedd got it wrong and he was abouwmiai to drop a
he was still grinning like a maniac.

Cyraenieds mouth dropped open.
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fi Bd buti t h aingbssible! 0 s hagedpatlast.
AWhat 6s so i mpossible about a sentient planet?0 the Doct
very peeved at the time, | might add. Nearly killed an entire freighter crew. And Martha. And me. Did kill some

of us. Torajii,i t was <call ed. o
AWhy?o0 Finn asked.
il dondt hekmhowas just its name, 0 the Doctor shrugged.

AYou -howehr ed nitwit!o she excl ai medmeam enxhays pdeirdatiitonk,i Irloltl
i Oh! Because theyo6d lustehdeia ssuthn ps c o ofpa ktess rpdfassema from a s
was alive. A living entity. And it hurt! Damaged it. So it was angry. If someone came up to you with an axe and
suddenly cut your hand off to use asfirewood, how would your eact ? 0

Finn blew her cheeks out.

ABadly, 0 she admitted.

fHoweveri! Back to the main point, o0 said the Doctor. AWhich i
fi Bu b ut &0yraenie was back to stutteringi iwhere i s this sun? WiR lowhavendt we
didyoui? o

Laryan broke in on her, before she could start askingi as Finn suspected she was about td6 how an
Interplanetary Agency Investigator would have encountered a sentient sun. Which made her cast a quick glance
at him, wonderingwhyhe wasnét asking the same question.
Al think the Doctorés right, Cyraenie, 0 he said cal mly,

i Wehould stick to the matter in hand, just now. So, Doctor i the connection between the quakes and the storm

istwhat, exactly? The planet knows t hesisdamerim6s approaching,
AfAnd the moons, o0 said Cyraenie, struggl i odgnttesaméocus, as |
danger, arendt they?o0

The Doctor suddenly shot to his feet and gaped at her. Then he smacked himself on the forehead before
grabbing Cyraenie by her shoulders and giving her a swift shake.

AThatds it!o he yelled. AiCyraenie, youbre brilliant! T
senti entpdarent!Sheds a

fwhat? 6 Fi nn excl ai med.

ACyraenie had it right! Bang on! o0 the Doctoridsoaiéd, tur ni
you remember ? And thatés exactly what she i s! A mother!
little darlings the spitting image ofher T at mosphere, flora, the | ot! I bet when f
like her i | bet theyd | | have all the bits of the e dcheamymsls, thennsectsey donodt
everything!o

ABuabuti how can a planet have children?0 Finn demanded, i nc

iSeveral ways, that | can thigknefbhei sgid phan®obatprgynadé
He took time out to wince at the thought. AThrowing a few

you would do, for starters. In this case, three bitsi triplets. With all the same elements from wh ich to grow all
the same systems. o0

AThemhen shebés not just afraid for herselvferd feBeeiirs sai d sl
one of his more unsettling stares.

ANo, sheds not, 06 he agchiddeed. The waghyandrmal mother would bee 8hef or her
knows theydére in danger! And sheds desperate to protect t|
AiSo the g@akkeargane prompted, |l ooking as if he was beginn
AWhat do you do if youdre af shaddal® 0 lde mamdekl IbhieeDlogt ofro ¢
Afwhat do you do if youbre facing danger ansttugglecihewts t o sc
what the quakes are. Felindrebés terrified! Screaming for
AUnt i Icafienmal ong, 0 said Laryan, becoming more ani mated as
saying began to unfol d. AAnd formed her telepathic |ink wi
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similarly linked to Felindre itself. Sothroughthat | i nk, F i i he paused im em@mentanyg o

contemplation of the magnitude of the concepti A Fi nn i s hear i n@alingHoehelp.b anet itsel f.
There was another short silence. Finn looked at the Doctor and widened her eyes, as if to sayyow! He gave

her a nod of encouragement, which she accepted as she continued to think about the whole fantastic proposition.

Then something occurred to her.
fiDoctor, do you remember what the Nithlon said, when | S
iYeahé Shendaiedi 6Félautiful 6, 07 lseyessuddénly gréorauhdas he AfShe sa

remembered the full detail i is he sai dpadbf ameodl ¢

AfAnd then when | asked her what her name was, 0l &mnn pur s
part of hero. And remember what youb6d been saying before |
ecosystem? No predators?0

AOhhh, youdre brilliant, too, FEuegny lbangbidstotally lridiamt! 06 t he Do
today! o

AWhy, what do you mean?0 Cyraenie asked.

AThat the Nithl on wa s ispeatiofirgindieli All the animals, all herpdanty; t hi n g
everything! Li ke your hair, or your fingernai lpartof or your

you. And all your cells, all the millions and billions and trillions of them i all individual cells, but all making up
your body, you. Every one of them replaced at regular intervals through your lifetime, constantly rebuilding you. 0
His eyesglowed with enthusiasm as he warmed to his theme.
fiSame for every plant, every creaturei individuals come, individuals go, but Felindre, the whole body, goes
on. So,nopredatorsi your cell s dondt pr edatbgetheo.n elancdvhaoheihteérdoes,t hey wor
because itds effeditfiivelgnta Scalgl €dbodgegi ng dAlfuhleythent t hi ngs,

brain, Felindre itself. Whi ch meanséo He t ur widedandtsparkliRg. n n fiakha icrh, meyaenss, i f
canfind your friend the Nithlon, we can talkkt o Fel i ndr e! o
fiTfakit o the planet?0 Cyraenie was stildl having some troub
AWorth a try, of wha araypu geiegdo.say? Wikatcany ou say, i n the circumst a
i Oh, |l 6ve got an idea about thad , o the Doctor assured hil

He broke off as his communicator buzzed.

AiDoctor ?0 Ashl ai kés voice, | owered almost to a whisper,
AYups, met, 60 t he Doctor confirmed. iTarget on the move, is
AYes. And going just where you said, it |l ooks like. o

ARi ghto! Keep your eyes peeled. I 611l be right there!o

the Doctor bounded toward the door.
AiDoctor ! Where are you going?0 Finn called after him.
fiOh, just going to have a word with the personr e s ponsi bl e f o,rcr@bed theoDodios, padsing t h

in the doorway.
Cyranie shot to her feet.

AYoudre going towuspeak $lbwe Ghyennindd, harshly.

=13

Well, sort of, o6 qualified the Doctor. ANot the person
is the person who ordered it. o

AThere are two of them? Wh o Whayrdel théyhle yi?t0o? €y r Blee i fei n@lmawa rec
more a cry of pain than a question.

The Doctor looked at her gravely.

AHow did you know who it is?0 Laryan supplemented with a
known?o

AWorked it out whil e Rihren Dwast osrl.e e piiLmogo,ko, sladil | Texpl ain | a
or | might missthem. Back in a mo! o And, g Ueawing theando lomk at dach othey, he was gol

temporarily wordless .
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Chapter 20
The Oncoming Storm

The Doctor, hurtling through the Laboratory Block at full tilt, found Ashlaik lurking at a vantage point from
where he could seethe entrance to Corridor 7.

Astill there?d he hissed, skidding to a halt beside him.

iRi ght, stay here, pusai svamlder Ddowar andfihalvle a qui et wordé

Shoving his hands in his pockets, he sauntered casually down the corridor to the junction that led to the Cold
Storage Facility, and planted himself in its centre, feet spread wide Ahead of him, through the open first door, he
could see thefigure staring in through the viewing panel of the second door, its shoulders tight with tension .

ASheds not there, you know, 0 he said, raising his voice
ASorry ¢t otyaibstEppoi Mhor nt on 6 and kelpingiaryaa and Cyraenie and me work out
what we can do to save Felindre. Not just from the oncomi |
way, 0 he add ef@uite @ananpasiadtiteybut i tdéds got a certain ring to it, h
want to hear about that, do you? So where was I? Oh, yes. Saving Felindre. Not just from the storm. Fronyou,
as well .o

Slowly, Planetary Administrator One Four Three Zarramin turned t o face him.

iGot worried once you realized Finn had a direct connect.|
continued. fiRealized thatodéd put the crimp on your |little |
di dn 6t hesdme Wway Ghiron did, becausehed &und out that Felindre had a mind. So no-oned €ind out
that youbve been covering the whole thing up. o

AAnd | would want to do that, becauseé?0 Zarramin said g
voice at theend of the question. Under that apparently placid exterior, however, he was undoubtedly seething
with suppressed anger.

fBecause Felindrebds packed,Dostahed ¢ bhewibeosttewosbh unasgeni ul
valuable metals in the entire universe. But out of boundsto anyoneh er e, because Felindrebés a C¢
Outstanding Beauty. Which means no-one can mine the tascenium. But if all the life on the planet was destroyed
T ooh, say, by a passing spatial electrical storm broadcastig just the right electromagnetic radiation wavelengths
to do the job 7 oh, dear! Terrible tragedy! Very sad! Appalling loss of a unique ecosystemd

He stopped caricaturing regret and rearranged his features into a falsely bright expression.

fiBut,heyevery c¢l oudds ¢ oteasan nat io mweesthie tascenium nogy,!eh? Nbt if the right
arrangements can be made with the right peopl eyouwhool I pas:
Mr Planetary Administrator! Standing there wringing your hands with dismay over such an unforeseeable
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calamity, eyes full of tears for other peopleds benefit buf
machi neébo

Zarramin di dntidatlastalusion rasdtit ahowied, before he restored his mask of polite
disinterest. But he chose not to speak.

iSo Ghyron, in his innocence, goes to you as Planetary A
to save at least the people hereif nothing else. But maybe start trying to save some of the flora and fauna to some
ot her , safe | ocation, so they woul dndt be totally 1 ost, ei f
vanish, and you get Ansalari wh ods ei t hewi tihn yoaho otrs el se youbreitbhl ackmail i
get rid of him and destroy his data. Without officially reporting his disappearance. But then | turn up, and start
asking all the wrong questdions as far as youbre concerned.

The Doctor fixed Zarramin with an uncompromising stare.

iSo now you need to get rid of me, .tObandremiHemeomlyohhsal ar 6s
who was it that suggested that we make t h@htofcourseipsillup t o Obs.

mei how could | forget? It wasyou! But then we go andrather inconveniently survive that, d on 6t nly &or? (0]
youtofind outt hat Finnds got a telepathic |link with the planet,
get Ansalar onthe caseagain. Bus heds not a very lucky assassin, is she? T
success. Not a particularly brilliant strikera t e , is 1it?20

Zarramin still remained silent, but his eyes, f i ylewing pools ofamger, fibsiratibpnor 6 s, wer e
and hatred.

AAlnway, 0 the Doct or Ghymonwas theadkeyer fér you.rHid & backup of his data. Which
wefound. SO it really wasn6t v evhopwasdbehindlitall, and whnelt alt gpes backritk o u 't
Gh y r oepdits Once | realized no-one elséd deenit but you i not even Helenay, though you tried to put her in
the frame because she had thenly otherkeyi wel | , case solved. 0

The Doctor suddenly grinned manically.

fi Okh,llovet hese Poirot bits, donot you? Whodunni t! The gat
the final denouementi 6 | t you@B6 pose | shoul doitbetterpactuallyn gpreught évéryose a b
else with me to witness the unmasking of the criminal. Oh, well, never mind i pointis,itisyou, Zarr amin. 0
TheDoct or 6s voice was suddenly col d. AWhen | 6aPdanetpyt al |t he
Administrator much | onger, do you? So any deals you were hoping t

oncethis all comes to light i why would those hard-headed realists in whatever mining consortium you had in

mind bother givingacuttosome one whodéds been publicly discredited?90
Zarramind6s eyes still burned, but he affected a careless
AiVery clever, I & m swe et.h e Sphlaamee ty,o uD cccatnddrt, 6s ahe sai d, unsuc

customary silky tone, the rage he was tryingto mask still coming to the surface as a hard, jagged edge to the silk
AOnly a partial resul t t olnalldhe gaysthaumatet t@youw noost,rl thiek| afquite n , I fear.
signal failure! 6 He ground out the words with savage glee.

The Doctor smiled at him.

AYou think so?0 he said enigmatically. And,leawving hout furt|

Zarramin staring , confounded, at the space where he had been

ARIi ght! Finn! Need t o g eDbctoh butsting enérgetycallyback Miothdrl on, 6 sai d |
Astrogeology lab, Ashlaik in tow.

ANithlon?0d asked Ashl ai k, astoni shed. fi Wh at Nithlon?b9d

AOh, Cyraeniedlliwxmpdtaiyou,t @yrdaemi gd@w said the Doctor qu
Finn andthePr of essor and | are just popping outside for a few mi

Ashlaik, get back on the Panoptes Array and find out exactly how close that storm is, and let me know. Because
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twasndt that far awaeownwhenrn h Ghaynrdon tfdisr dteen getting closer a

speedingupit he gravitational pull of a whole galaxyds been work

Ineed to know exactly wGBwmeadchblivbhegoyongdve fetondeoet, will yc
As Cyraenie nodded, the Doctor turned to Finn.

ARight, I etds get ofhdnsaf fderdd an ch es eseaiidf byduws kd ayn AiComing, P
AWoul dndét miss it for the wor | dnightnotbe thenaost apprepsiater ed hi m. i
phrase, i n the circumstanceséod he added thoughtfully.

The Doctor awarded him a brief grin.
AiBut , iDwld oirs it you went to see?0 Cyraenie pleaded. i Wh
AOh, Ashlaik can t élel Dpoecu oal asaloetd thleat, o iHe was there.
while webre oBubudowady |l et it stop you gettinagkayzdhat data o
He charged out of the lab with Finn and Laryan in his wake, leaving Cyraenie and Ashlaik looking at one
another, wondering who should start first.

Ansalar looked up, startled, as the door to her apartment opened and Zarramin strode in.
AHow did you get in?0 she demanded.
APl anetary Administpatoerbebaesenat|l asartabbé& to their sta
AAmomlyem, access to override the biometric system. And | |
AWhy, whatés happened?0
fiThe Doctor hasi darranneaused, sedrchingfar the appropriateword i ipr oj ect
concerning this planet and its resources. And has seen fit to make this known to four other people. Making
themal | a threat to me, and consequently to you.o

AWho?o0 demanded Ansal ar.

ALaryan. Cyraeni e. A's h |l ain &oncluded awdirdifgiheraglafeh or nt on, 0 Zarr a

Ansalar leapt to her feet, shocked.

ABut sheds dead! omustbet |locked herdn the freezer, houwrssagot Shec a isé ti | | be alive!l

ABut she is,0 Zarrami n shamself obsenved yoblvye. prioAe dt e Dectaomost
unsatisfactory assassinmydear. But | &6 m going to give you one | ast chance t«

Ansalar looked at him, dreading his next words.

AHow?O She compressed all her feelings into that one mo
AfYéwe going to kill all five of them. Anidt lyamtu®s eumotimg
you. But you are going to remove every one of them from m
Ansal ar gaped at hi m. She thought arers évenAtoughsheé k and Cyr
di dndt make friends easily. She thought about Professor L.

as a new member of his staff. She thought about the girl, Finn, and the Doctor, and what they were trying to do.

Andshe t hought about hersel f. What kind of person sheo6d b
ordered to do, for the rest of her life. What ki nd of person sheéd be, if she conti
And it wasndét to be borne.

It would stop here. Now. The killing, the lying, the guilt. All of it.
ANo, 0 she said, in such a |low voice that for an instant
Awhat did you say?0 he demanded.
Al said, no, 0 Ansal ar r ep e atdewhathim®dmrehercduperior hdigetr sel f erect ,
Alvondt do it. o

She saw the look in his eyes and knew she ought to be afraid. But somehow, whatever followed, she was

gads hedéd said it. Gl ad shedd refused.
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Al wonét do your dirty wark fidr dyoowtarcyrmomwh,ad gyha ddo.

Theyod6re not thinking about themselves. Theyodére thinking al

t hem. And | 6m not going to kill tAléwantgdwssttoleaxemyou can | ine

mi stakes behind me. And all youbébve done for me is make me

somebody better. Youdve just kept making me into what | wi

person! | 6 m ¢gooi dgo what | think is right. Even if itdéds the | as
fAsindeed itwill be, 6 Zarramin assured her, with a snar/|

There was asharp crack anda momentary flash of light, as the projectile travelled from the weapon that had
suddenly appeared in his hand to her chest, penetrating her heart.

After the initial jerk of her body, she stood motionless for a moment, an unaccountable look of triumph on
her face, as i f s o mEhénche coflapsedtdthelfleoawiteont a sound .

Zarramin stood staring down at her for a moment. But he found that for some reasonh e coul dhattt bear t
look of triumph in her newly dead eyes, in the smile frozen on her lips.

He turned on his heel and stalked out of the apartment.

Chapter 21
Felindre in Danger

True to his word, the Doctor, withrapid -f i r e del i very, had revealed the identi:t
murderer i murderers, if one counted Ansalar i to Laryan and Finn as he led them out of the Laboratory Block
and across the grounds to the boundary with the forest. T
despite the distaste on Laryands f acadyrelievedthatthemysterye t o what |
surrounding Ghyron, at least, had been resolved. Now he wadully focused on the remaining issue.

AWhat 6s your plan, Doctor?0 he asked, as they approached

ildm going to get Fi ntocomeharsk, diegaiNd tthHe nDdatiemdbri skl y.
alink to Felindre itself, | can talk to it. Well, to her, | suppose | should be saying. 0

AiMy previous question still stands, then,0 said Laryan.
AfiOh, 1 6ve goupmysleevaiggé sei ®oct or assurediht | | wbehi hwenkbi
tosee what she thinks of itéo

He came to a halt in front of the boundary fence, and turned to Finn.
Right, o he said. ifiMbonnesdmebowal | GehatheN here. 0
How?d she asked, at something of a | oss.

ot

ot

AiShut your eyes and think of her, 0 the Doctor said urgen:
And call her here. o
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Finn looked at him dubiously. Oh, welli there6s a f i r st t i shethdughttohergedf.rEyen hi n g,
something like this! She swallowed, and fixed her gaze on the forest beyond the boundary. Then she closed her
eyes, as the Doctor had suggested, and began to build the best picture in her mindhat she could, from her
memories of the Nithlon staring into her eyes, the beautiful wings, the soaring flight, the words of their
conversation.

Where are you? Are you there? | need to speak to you! Come to me, please!

She pictured her words flying away from her, spreading out in all directions across the forest, seeking their
quarry.

Please answer me! Felindre is in terrible danger! We need your help! Please come to me!

She was on the point of giving up, when she felt the slightest tremor of response at the edge of her mind.

Is it you? Are you coming?

Felindre! | hear you i | am coming, my friend Finn !

She gasped with relief, and opened her eyes, to see the Doctsmilingi of cour se, hedd been abl e
Nithlon i and Laryan regarding her with an expectant expression.

i We | hle @ethanded.

iWoul dbve been easi er i fadmsttdy,dd Fiaudighdy, fbub pesil seh epbhso noen, her
way. 0
AYou couldndt hear helaryar, wha $hboRlisheathe Doct or asked

Alf this works, wedre goi ago ttohédr adecttor fd omdmentwad. r ound

At that moment his communicator bleeped at him imperatively , and he seized it Laryan moved away slightly
and operated his own communicator, speaking into it urgently in a low voice, soFi nn coul dnét hear who
talking to.

i Cy r a dlmat yeu? Got that figure for me?0the Doctor demanded.

fiYes, Doctor . o Finn could hear her voice clearly. ABut
thel eading edge of the storm is only twelve hours away. o0

fiHow | o n §ifnddemanded incredulously. Cyraenie heard her.

Al knowsplkretdiingbsap, the closer it gets. I dondt wunder st

ARi ght at this momentex pflaasncaitn aotni g gthhto ubgeh, tdhoen 6t need t o
Doctor cut in. iThe only fact of i mportance is that wedve
Keepmonitoring the storm, Cyraenie 1 i f t hat esti mate c¢harbgpag, iitt Gast esnscent irdalgl

He shut the communicator off, and turned back to the forest, scanning it with urgent eyes.

ADi d | heaTWwelgechroruercst?loy L ar yan asked, putting away his comm
grimly.

il only hopemetdshenmugheted.

Finn closed her eyes again, and sent her thought anxiously out to the Nithlon.
Are you coming? How long will you be?
Felindre! came the response.l am near! | come, my friend Finn!
iShe says sheds repdtedost here, 0 Finn
iNto 6al mostdé, 0 the Doctor corrected her. AThere she is!¢
Finn and Laryan followed his pointing finger. Outlined in the sky, skimming over the tops of the trees, the
Nithlon was speeding towards them, dropping down to come to a hovering halt in front of Fi nn. Laryan stared
at the fantastic, beautiful creature, transfixed.
fiFelindre?o0the Nithlon asked. | have come. What is your need, my friend Finn?
AWe need todta) & sai #et he Doctor. iWe need your help. )
fiFelindre ,0the Nithlon assured him, hovering delicately some four feet or so above the ground. Felindre
knows this.

il know she does, but therebds something she might be abl
can helpustalkto her, wemi ght be able to stop it happening. o
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iOh, I dondét think so, Doctor, 0 said a voice from behind
They turned to see Zarramin emerging from a tangle of bushesa few yards away, his projectile weapon
covering them. He cast onedismissive look at the hovering Nithlon , then ignored it completely, focusing on the

three of them.

AStop a spatial storm? You seem to be inordinately cl evi
comment ed. fiHowever, I dm not pr epameax gec trautni arhse irn stkh a th ar
AWhat 6s the matter? Not got Ansalar to do your dirty wol
Al 6m axXFourd EBight Ansalar is no | ongerZarmmimalmdsteasif of t he Co

he genui nel y Shegefusedtoteke furthérditection, si | was forced to dispense with her services.
Permanently, | fear. Suchapity. Butdon o6t t hi nk | & m n otanyaatipnd eeneneaessaryper f or mi ng
Doctor . o

AOh, never thought that for a moment, 0 tYeu dDroe tjous tastshuea e
type who prefers other people to get their hands dirty on your behalf. So Ansalar refused, did she? Had an attack

of conscience, | presume. Which was never going to go down well with you, was it? Sowvimat ar e you going t

fi Oh, | shall kil al | of you, 0 said Zarramin cal mly. fi Al
the | ab, |l suppose? Wat ong& bf yom eenttmad and shott thefnlard the ethemwodere, t h
then took your own |ife. Havendt quite deci dieddoewhné&th of y

matter. But afterwards, all will be as it was before. And my deal with the mining corporations will still go
through, as originally planned. o
Finn stared at him with mounting fear. He was too far away for either the Doctor or Laryan to reach him
before he could fire his weapon. And the Doctor would never be able to get his sonicscrewdriver out in time to
stop Zarramin firing. One of them, at least, was likely to die. And it would most likely be the Doctor i he was,
after all, the one most likely to act.
fiFelindre! 0 You are afraid! This man threatens you? she suddenly heard te Nithlon ask, an unaccustomed
tension in its mental tone.
AfYes! o0 Finn gasped. Laryan and Zarramin | ooked at her wi
dawned in different ways on both their faces as she went on speaking to the Nithlon; the Dodor, of course,
already understood. AHed6s going to kildl us, SO we candt h
The Nithlon instantly rose higher into the air and stayed poised there, as if she was about to swoop down on
Zarramin, her black eyes compressed into angry slits Instinctively he followed her with the weapon, keeping it
trained on her.

(@)
~
—

ATell that thing that if it tries anything, |
fiFelindre! 0 You are wicked! You must not threaten my friends!
Zarramin never noticed the sudden wi deni ng of everyoneds eyes as his fing:¢
barrel still pointing at the Nithlon. After which he was in no condition to notice anything for quite a while, as
something made hard and heavy contact with the side of hishead,aml he dr opped as if hedd been

Which was a pretty fair description of what had happened, in fact.

Chapter 22
Talking to the World

AProfessor Ehrath! oo Finn gasped.
Ehrath slowly lowered the lump of stone with which he had hit Zarramin, then let it fall to the turf with
amuffled thump. His eyes were fixed on the Nithlon like a man in love.
iwhat are you doing here?0 the Doctor followed up.
AiLaryan told me she was coming, o0 Ehrath said in a hushed
creature hovering above t hetmh a thdgesturedal the limp body ef thk fallen And t hat
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Administrator , striving for a sufficiently vitriolic epithet 1 fi t hPAilistine was going toshoot her! Something soi

uni que! So beautiful éo His voice trailed away, and then |
smiled at him.
iShe says thank you, 06 the Doctor told him. AFor saving |

Ehrat hés heart wéosaceheréndreply;thé ngerely blinked, and dmiled back.
fAnd s o Bdipmedn&hileoit he Doctordés mannéfibakba&ngedt aker bpsiypess o
the planet!o
He whirled away, and the Nithlon followed him, resuming her station by Finn. The Doctor looked at both of
them.
ANow, | istenhe yoai d,wobri skl y. fil need to speak to Felind
| need her to hear me. So | need to make a communication chaini me t o i legainbed from himself to Fin n
T Ay o woubiofrom Finn to the Nithlon 7 A a ryal to Felindre. So what | say goes through Finn and you to
Felindre, and what she says comes back the same way. Unde
fiFelindre. 0 | understand , the Nithlon confirmed. Finn nodded her agreement.
ARi ght then, o said the Doctor, taking a deep breath. il H
Laryan and Ehrath watched with fascination as the Doctor
both closed their eyes. The Nithlon ceased to hover, and delicately laded on the grass; her eyes did not close, but
never | eft Finnds face. Even so, Laryan had a sense that
Suddenly both Finn and the Doctor staggeredas if something had impacted on them, thoughthe Doct or 6 s
hands stayed | ocked in their position against the girlds t
AAre you all right?06 Laryan demanded, | ooking at the str
fYeahéo the Doctor replied, , histeethcldnched iMauwlet Y, 0 llishs t &y es st |
thati a pl anet i@abigthingidpr etty over poweriignegtét i rlDp nbste dvotra yi t €0
The Nithlon had reached out one of itsthree-f i ngered forelimbs and rested it on
moments, things seemedto be getting easier. The strain on the faces of the Doctor and Finn relaxed somewhat.
Laryan wondered what it could possibly be like, what they were attempting. What they were doing! For now the
Doctor was muttering, as if vocalizing was helping him send his thoughts to the immense consciousness he was
trying to communicate with. But his voice was too low for Laryan to hear what he was saying.
It seemed to go on a long timei the Doctor murmuring, the ensuing pauses in which, presumably, the planet
was replying. The strain on Finn seemed to be getting greater, the longer it went on; she was now very pale, and
there were beads of perspiration on her forehead. Laryan |
under considerable emotional and physical pressurein the very recent pasté

At last the Doctor smiled, and said one last word, quite clearly.

ABrilliantél!o
He opened his eyes and |séead. IShesstaggerad dgain, dnd wquld havedatdedF i n n 6
to the ground hadtheDoct or 6s | ightning quick reactions not all owed hi

He lowered her gently while kneeling himself, cradling her against him.
Ails she all right?0o Laryan demanded, hurrying forward, E |
fiFelindre?0 Is all well with my friend Finn? the Nithlon asked, fluttering agitatedly above them.
AShedll be all right, d the Doctor assur ed ovehwhaimngst udyi ng
for her. Talking to a planeti takes it out of you a bit, you know.o
fAre you sure? S h e 6 s inkihe space of b fevs lourdaleady. déHawt niuchtdewiolctiénk
she can take?0 Laryan challenged, quite angrily, for him.
The Doctor looked up at him quickly, then back down to the face of the unconscious girl, his own expression
tinged with surprise and, perhaps, a little guilt. He watched the rolling of her eyes under her eyelids, the
fluttering of her eyelashes as she fought her way back to the rest of them.
iSometi mes | f or get admitted & s low voicey talding tmaimsglfarathierehan Laryan.

Then he lookedupagainhi s f ace nor malshewil BBoranbt wbghy. I promi se you.
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